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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors’) of Glory
Flame Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CEO'S EHRIITEWRS
STATEMENT

On behalf of Glory Flame Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am
honoured to present this annual report of the consolidated results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023” or the
“Reporting Period”).

PERFORMANCE

The Group posted a revenue of approximately HK$107.6 million
for FY2023, representing a decrease by approximately 9.2% as
compared to approximately HK$118.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 (“‘FY2022”).

The Group’s revenue attributable to concrete demolition services
decreased by approximately 2.0% from approximately HK$69.4
million for FY2022 to approximately HK$68.0 million for FY2023.
The Group’s revenue attributable to prefabricated construction
decreased by approximately 19.5% from approximately HK$49.2
million for FY2022 to approximately HK$39.6 million for FY2023.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$9.1 million
for FY2023, representing an increase by approximately 237.0%
as compared to a net loss of approximately HK$2.7 million for
FY2022. Basic loss per share for FY2023 was HK0.97 cents, as
compared to HK1.02 cents for FY2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

Hong Kong is facing high external uncertainty amid continuing
geopolitical tension between the United States and China and
high interest rates. With the sluggish property market and
weak profit expectations of corporations, the lack of investors’
confidence weighed on the recovery of the economy. Hong
Kong property developers have been becoming cautious in
acquiring land and scaling back the construction project launches
as demand dries up due to a mix of high interest rate and a
global economic slowdown. For FY2023, the Group’s revenue
attributable to concrete demolition services business dropped
by 2.0%. The Company believes that the difficult external
environment will continue to pose pressures on Hong Kong’s
economy and the road to recovery will remain challenges in
forthcoming years.
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China is being whipsawed by a set of external economic
headwinds and domestic growth uncertainties. China experienced
a bumpy recovery in 2023 due to geopoalitical tensions, sluggish
domestic demand and a global economic slowdown. China’s
property sector has been going through a liquidity crisis. Many
property developers are heavily exposed to the ongoing debt
crisis and debt repayment remain one of the biggest challenges
for property developers. For FY2023, revenue attributable to the
Group’s prefabricated construction business dropped by 19.5%.
Despite the recent support measures from China government, the
property markets still face strong headwinds from weak growth
fundamentals, including lack of investment inflow and oversupply
problems. Many property developers in China were under financial
distress and decided to postpone construction projects due to
liquidity problems. However, at the start of 2024, the property
market in China showed sign of improvement and the market
sentiment begins to turn. The Group expects the property market
will be underpinned by a gradual improvement in demand in the
overall recovery process.

The Group devotes to promote the green building. Prefabricated
construction is not only green but also be more efficient and even
higher quality. The Company would actively explore business
opportunities to expand the prefabricated construction business in
the Belt and Road Initiative as a key area for overseas expansion.
We will continue to adhere to our core philosophy of “Building
a Green World” and the ideology of “green building and green
life” with quality, innovation and effectiveness and achieve our
expansion of the Group’s business with a view to optimizing
stakeholders’ interests and maximizing their value.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank our Directors, our experienced management team, our
dedicated employees, and our professional legal and accounting
teams for their wavering support and commitment. We would also
like to express appreciation for the continuing support and trust of
our shareholders, clients, suppliers and government authorities.

Lai Xiaoliang
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 31 March 2024

CEO'S
STATEMENT
BREATERS

PRI ER 2 — RS INEREE AR A= KR BEA
1B RAHEE R - SMBBUARRESE
Bl A F S RIE R R & IKAE BAER R E > E
RN ZFREFRENER - PEIRYE
TE—EEKERBBETLOK -RSYERH
LHRIFERBERNBRERE  BHE
BINARYEREDERNRAIEZ—-
RMBEE_S2_=F AEEZERAE
EEFFTEZ WA T [£19.5% o BE FREIEAT
THATREN — =2 538 B E T IHTAE
FRIE REXSERIFTHRIRALE] B
BRERAT B KRB KBIREE - AR RE
BB PERSYEREBRAMBR
15 REHERRIRE -AM > — T - FHF
45 PEIMED B HRFEIR  hi5EER
M - AEE AR EERERERBET Y
FHISRZIB/RES AENZIE -

AERERNEEGORERE - KEVEZRTE
RR MEBEMXKREEES - ANABRIE
BRRE - EE T RERELRARR
EHOEE > WS FR BIMNERIVERLE
15 o IR ERR TR B R 0
BREFEE AR IGEERE &
BEE) B MERAEEES MR
mAEREN R R R ARERAEEE

g

RANEARETER BRI RBEHINE
- EREENEEER SENEERE
FREEHSEERERNRE T RIAGE
HFITFRORBERFIRIRR B A HEE K
BN E BRI EIT R A EE.

EEHTE
FEBES
&8 "ENF=A=+—H

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #

5



6

MANAGEMENT EBIEEBstmmAaoif

DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. For
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”), the
Group mainly engages in provision of concrete demolition services
and manufacturing and trading of prefabricated construction
components.

Concrete demolition services

Concrete demoalition is one aspect of the construction industry
in Hong Kong. The Group’s concrete demolition services
were mainly concerned with the removal of pieces or section
of concrete from concrete structures by applying a variety
of methods, such as core drilling, sawing, bursting and
crushing. Concrete demolition services are usually performed
by subcontractors in (i) general building works, especially for
alteration and redevelopment projects; and (i) civil engineering
works. Concrete demolition work can be applied in various
situations, such as the construction of underground utilities,
creation of openings for elevator, door, and window installation,
redevelopment of buildings, roads, tunnels and underground
facilities, removal of concrete during building construction and the
preparation of road surfaces.

The customers of the Group’s concrete demolition services mainly
include main contractors and subcontractors of different types
of construction and civil engineering projects in Hong Kong.
Such customers can generally be categorized into public sector
projects’ customers and private sector projects’ customers. Public
sector projects refer to projects of which the main contractors
are employed by Government departments or statutory bodies in
Hong Kong, while private sector projects refer to projects that are
not public sector projects.

e ]

ARBNEEEHAREER - BE"T
“ZEF+TA=+—HULEEE (HREH) -
KFEETERFRMER TIFEIRT URE
P ANEREHRERES

At 4 ED AR F5
ERTIFHTERBBRRTEREEEZ
— o REEERTIFHRBERD REB
RASERZE MBI EY) - BRK
S BEORR LEBRVRER TR o
ERTIFHERBEE A DEEN (—RER
T2 JRIRCERERTRE ; & (i) KT
BFFETEF RRLTIRE TREATANM T
AHBHER - BRAO FIEZEEF
B BERM TREER  BRETERETD
R TITR AR E R

AEBRERTIFHRBNEREIERES
KBRERIATEEENBRERRDE
R R —RADESRERLE R
ERER - RERBEBIEHEB BN
WEERBIEFERKEBNIER  MALER
BIEBIEIFAERAIEE -

2023
—E-=F

HK$’000
FET

WARE
—MEFRRIER
—RERRFIER

Revenue from
— private sector project
— public sector project

32,294
35,742

48,601
20,776

68,036 69,377

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEIERERELF



Prefabricated construction

Prefabricated construction is a new kind of architecture with
the construction process that is splitting the traditional building
products into precast reinforced concrete member produced in
the factory and transported to the construction site for assembling
into a whole building. Precast concrete contributes to green
building practices as it can be very durable and energy efficient.
Prefabricated construction also reduces construction waste and
debris on construction site as the precast concrete components
are factory-made and employed by exact-batching technologies.

Prefabricated constructions are becoming more popular in many
developing countries, due to compressed project timelines, more
affordable pricing, greener construction technology and the
ability to service remote locations. Growth in urbanization and
industrialization drive the demand in affordable urban housing that
was built in a shorter construction time. The Group established
its own production facilities and construction project team in
Huizhou, the PRC for production, research and development of
precast concrete components and glass fiber reinforced cement
components, product installation guidance and sales which mainly
serviced the construction projects in Greater Bay area of China
and Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEF DjDFFH& \jtﬁ

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue decreased by approximately HK$10.9 million or 9.2%
from approximately HK$118.5 million for FY2022 to approximately
HK$107.6 million for the Reporting Period. The analysis of revenue
was shown as follows:

Revenue from WAZEKER
— Provision of concrete demolition and —12 58 & 7 E &

FiA %5 o] 8
WA

WA BBHEE —F - ~449118,500, ooo%%
TRV £910,900,00078 70 309.2% 2 R & HA AN
#9107,600,00078 75 c A DA T

2023 2022
= —em— —

—_—— —

HK$'000
FB7T

HK$’000
TERT

construction engineering services BETRERR 68,036 69,377

— Manufacturing and trading of —SEREEERR
prefabricated precast construction TERIE AN 39,570 49,156
107,606 118,533

Provision of concrete demolition and construction
engineering services

For the Reporting Period, revenue attributable to concrete
demolition services was approximately HK$68.0 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.4 million or 2.0%
as compared with approximately HK$69.4 million for FY2022. The
decrease was primarily due to a decrease of HK$16.3 million in
revenue from private sector projects, but offset by an increase of
HK$14.9 million in revenue from public sector projects.

Manufacturing and trading of prefabricated precast
construction

For the Reporting Period, revenue attributable to prefabricated
construction was approximately HK$39.6 million, representing an
decrease of approximately HK$9.6 million or 19.5% as compared
with approximately HK$49.2 million for FY2022, primarily due to a
slow recovery of the property sector in China.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit decreased by approximately HK$1.7 million or 4.8%
from approximately HK$35.4 million for FY2022 to approximately
HK$33.7 million for the Reporting Period.

Gross profit margin increased from 29.9% for FY2022 to 31.4%
for the Reporting Period. The increase was primarily due to
an increase by 1.8 percentage points in gross profit margin
attributable to concrete demolition services from 32.0% for
FY2022 to 33.8% for the Reporting Period.

Other Income and Other Gains, Net

Net other income and other gains, decreased by approximately
HK$3.5 million from approximately HK$8.5 million for FY2022
to approximately HK$5.0 million for the Reporting Period. The
decrease was primarily due to the combined effect of (i) a
decrease in a gain of HK$5.8 million on reversal of impairment
loss in respect of the recovery of certain long outstanding other
receivable that had been fully impaired in year 2019; and offset
by (i) a decrease in a loss of HK$1.2 million on deregistration of
subsidiaries which had ceased their businesses in trading of clean
coal in Inner Mongolia.

Impairment Losses on Trade Receivables, Net

Net impairment losses on trade receivables decreased by
HK$0.7 million from approximately HK$4.6 million for FY2022
to approximately HK$3.9 million for the Reporting Period. The
net impairment losses on trade receivable was assessed based
on the expected credit loss valuation model performed by an
independent qualified valuer.

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEmRD

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by
approximately HK$0.8 million from approximately HK$35.9
million for FY2022 to approximately HK$36.7 million for the
Reporting Period. Such increase was primarily due to an increase
of approximately HK$1.1 million in staff costs for the Reporting
Period.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

After a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$9.8 million for
the Reporting Period, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$0.5 million as compared to a loss of HK$10.3 million
attributable to owners of the Company for FY2022.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank deposits
of approximately HK$36.2 million (2022: approximately HK$36.3
million).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 (defined as total borrowings including interest bearing and
non-interest bearing, divided by the Group’s total equity) is not
applicable due to negative total equity of the Group.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the Reporting Period. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial
status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments
can meet its funding requirements from time to time.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations
from various currencies, such as United States dollars and
Chinese Renminbi. Since Hong Kong dollars remains pegged
to the United States dollars within a defined range, the Group
is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk against
the United States dollars. The Group has certain subsidiaries
operating in mainland China, in which most of their transactions,
including revenue, expenses and other financing activities, are
denominated in Chinese Renminbi. The Group is not exposed
to any significant foreign exchange transaction risk in relation to
these currencies and had not entered into any foreign exchange
contract as hedging measures against these currencies.

Significant Investment Held

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no material
investment held by the Group.

Debts and Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the total borrowings of the Group,
including unsecured fixed bonds and other loan, amounted to
approximately HK$76.2 million (2022: approximately HK$76.2
million). The annual interest rates of the borrowings during the
Reporting Period ranged from 4.6% to 12.0% per annum (2022:
4.2% 10 12.0% per annum). All of the borrowings are unsecured
and denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Chinese Renminbi.
The borrowings of HK$46.9 million were repayable within one year
which was accounted for as current liabilities of the Group and
the borrowings of HK$29.3 million were repayable over one year
which was accounted for as non-current liabilities.

Capital Commitments

The Group does not have material capital commitments as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Future plans for material investment or capital
assets

Save as disclosed in the annual report, the Group does not have
any other specific plan for material investments or capital assets
as at 31 December 2023.
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEmRD

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 96 staff (2022:
98 staff). Total employee costs for the Reporting Period including
directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately HK$42.1
million (2022: approximately HK$41.0 million).

The salary and benefit levels of the employees of the Group are
competitive. This is very important as the construction industry
Individual
performance of our employees is rewarded through the Group’s
salary and bonus system. In addition, the Group provides
adequate job training to employees in order to equip them with
practical knowledge and skills to tackle situations and challenges
encountered in diverse work sites.

has been experiencing labour shortage in general.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend to
Shareholders for the Reporting Period (2022: Nil).

RESPONSE FROM THE DIRECTORS
REGARDING THE QUALIFIED OPINION

The auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) issued a qualified
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Audit Modifications”),
the details of which were described in the paragraph headed
“Basis for Qualified Opinion” of the independent auditor’s report
set out on pages 96 to 104 in this annual report.
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Management’s position and basis on major
judgmental areas

The auditor has requested the supporting documents about
the financial position of the supplier whom the Company made
previously a prepayment to (the “Supplier”) for ascertaining the
recoverability of the receivable amount of RMB19,100,000 from
the Supplier (the “Default Balance”) as at 31 December 2021.

The Company has tried to obtain the latest financial statements
from the Supplier but was told that such information was
confidential and could not be released. The Company has relayed
to the auditor its understanding gained from various discussions
with the Supplier.

The Company, to the best knowledge, considers that the Default
Balance would likely be irrecoverable as at 31 December 2021
in view of the unfavourable financial situation, market situation
and market intelligence valuation in relation to the activities of the
Supplier. The auditor considers that they were unable to carry out
the audit procedures necessary to obtain adequate assurance
as to whether the full impairment of RMB19,100,000 should be
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021.

As a result, the audit modification would continue to apply to the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 in relation to the comparability of the current year's and the
corresponding figures.

Audit committee’s view towards the Audit
Modifications

The Audit Committee has reviewed the management’s position
concerning the Audit Modification, and it agrees with the same.
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The Company’s action plan to address the Audit
Modifications

The Company has from time to time liaised with the Supplier
to gain an understanding of its financial situation and has also
tried to obtain from the Supplier its financial statements and
other financial information, and the Company has been told
by the Supplier that such information would not be disclosed
due to confidentiality reason. The Company has appointed an
independent qualified valuer to assess the recoverability of the
other receivable balance from the Supplier as at 31 December
2022 and 2023. The Default Balance has been long outstanding
and the auditor was satisfied with the assessment of the
recoverability of the Default Balance as at 31 December 2022
and 2023. The Company will continue to engage an independent
qualified valuer to assess the recoverability of the receivable
balance from the Supplier as at 31 December 2024 and if there’s
no material difference against the Company’s assessment, it was
expected that the audit modification in relation to the aforesaid
matter will be removed for the year ending 31 December 2024.

Since the publication of the prior year results, the Company has
been actively negotiating with various proposals for recovering
the Default Balance. The Company has, at its best endeavors,
discussed with the Supplier about possible cooperations in future
projects and related fundings and/or repayments. The Company
understands from the Supplier that, in view of the possible funding
from the investors for the Supplier's new project, the Supplier
would be in position to come up with a repayment timetable with
the Company. The negotiation is still on progress and the outcome
has yet to materialize.

In view of the ongoing negotiation, the Company has not taken
legal action against the Supplier at this stage. The Company does
not rule out taking legal action to recover the Default Balance.

Taking into consideration the Company’s action plan and on the
basis that until the completion of the audit for the year ending
31 December 2024 there would be no material factors which will
cause the management view’s on the impairment to differ, after
discussion with the Company’s auditors, the Company expects
the audit modification would be removed in the auditors’ report for
the year ending 31 December 2024.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR

TATREEZETNITENSE

AT AFE AHERBE > LT RAMHR
o i E B MR RS EM R R At
MHER A REEREHEHN > HIR
BRA T ERBZFEN - AAFEZRME
—RBUSERMGEEN LEHER 22
ERTECZF+A=+—HBEHERK
[B] EL it FE R BRERBY B AE 14  HE R BREE R HA
RBE ZBENEMEERGFERER T -
FhZEZ=F+"RB=+—HARUEH
aHE o AR B M AEIS FF 1B B B AR (L ERD
AHER ZEZME+ B =+—BRURHAE
R RURERERAY A URBIME > T A AR TR
AHMETEEAER B NBE_T _NF
T AZ=+—HIEFENAR LMERIER
AR ESUH o

BHE I —FEXELUR AR —HITR
Bz S B R RN S B A RTIE
BRABNEMEHNBRRKEENIES
EURIMEREE R, REREE A RB B
MR TR ERNREEREAHEEN
WEBREES  HEMSENEAAT —
EREEMEBR - EEHEETT EER
BHERo

ERERINEET FRFREREREH
ERERBUERITE - TR BT HRREUE
FTEILAR IR R EE o

= BEAATNTHHE TERERES
FoME+=A=+—BIEEENERE
RE FEAEAEARERENEREY
HENE A HIRER S8R EAD NZHRE
mith FAREHBRETHRRESS
CmE+Z A=+ — B EERRRETRE
B o



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zhong Zhiwei, aged 37, has been appointed as an executive
Director and an authorised representative of the Company with
effect from 22 March 2024. He has over 10 years of experience
working in business consulting services and investment advisory.
He was a general manager of Investor Relations Department of
HF Financial Group (China) Limited (EE & fERE (TEH) ARA
@)) from September 2013 to October 2018. He was an executive
director of Yingdali Management Consulting (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd* (GREZEFEEEH (RYI) BRAB) and Yingdali Culture
Communication (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd* (EEEEFICEE CRI)
A BR/AE]) from November 2018 to December 2022. He holds a
diploma of Business and Enterprise Management (I & 1> 2 & 1)
from The Open University of China (B2 B i A 2.

* for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT MANAGEMENT
EEREREREREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cao Hongmin, aged 53, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Cao holds a Bachelor of Laws and a Master of
Economics from Lanzhou University (B A2} and a Doctor
of Management from China Agricultural University. Mr. Cao has
also undertaken post-doctoral research in history from Peking
University. Mr. Cao holds positions including chairman of the
board of director of Wuhuo (Shenzhen) Smart City Security
Sci-tech Co., Ltd.* (ANFRINEZHHLZEREBRAE,
chairman of Shenzhen Fuzhi Public Welfare Foundation* (%3l
MEANmES D), department head and professor of China Rural
Development Research Institute* of the Beijing TangYongtong
College* (AR /% FA Y & P+ B 244 22 R iff 5TB5x) and Professor of
Oriental Management Research Institute, Xi’an Jiaotong University.

Mr. Chan Chi Pan, aged 39, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration
in China Business from City University of Hong Kong in July 2009.
He holds an estate agency salesperson’s licence granted by the
Estate Agents Authority in April 2018 and an insurance agent
licence. Mr. Chan is now currently serving as a deputy director at
an immigration consultancy company in Hong Kong. He has also
joined a Hong Kong financial services company in 2017 and is
mainly responsible for selling insurance products to customers.

Mr. Li Kar Fai Peter, aged 59, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Li obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy
from the City Polytechnic of Hong Kong in November 1992, and
has become an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since September 1997. Mr. Li has
been a non-executive director of Golden Faith Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2863) (“Golden Faith”), a company of which
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

* for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lai Xiaoliang, aged 49, is chief executive officer of the
Group. Mr. Lai obtained a Bachelor's Degree in English and a
professional certificate in international finance from Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies in 1998. He was the head of
overseas agricultural technology cooperation project of China
Guangdong International Cooperation Group* (97 2 58 B (%
SYEEME). Mr. Lai was also the general manager of a foreign
headhunting company in the South China region and a senior
consultant of a real estate strategy consulting agency. Mr. Lai is
currently a director of New World Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd*
G R #IZRRCRYINABR/AE]) and chairman of Hubei Bio-great
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd* (B1t8 s BB 2ERTE RN E
IR F).

* for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE

TEERWS

GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present hereby the corporate governance
report of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Directors and the management of the Group recognize
the importance of sound corporate governance to the long-
term and continuing success of the Group. Therefore, the
Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards and
procedures for the best interest of the Company’s shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules sets out the principles of good corporate
governance, code provisions and recommended best practices.
Issuers are expected to comply with the code provisions or devise
their own code on corporate governance on the terms they
consider appropriate provided that considered reasons are given.
Throughout the Reporting Period, save as disclosed below, the
Company had complied with the applicable code provisions of the
Code with the exception of the deviations as explained:

C.1.8 Appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against the Directors

The Code provision C.1.8 stipulates that the Company should
arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against the Directors. The Company does not have insurance
cover in this respect because the Board believes that the
Director’s risk of being sued or getting involved in litigation in their
capacity as Directors is relatively low. The Board will review the
need for taking out this sort of insurance from time to time.

F.2.2 Attendance of Chairman in Annual General
Meeting

The Code provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting. The chairman
of the Company, Mr. Liu Yingjie, was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 8 June 2023 due to other business
commitments. The Board elected an independent non-executive
Director, Mr.Li Kar Fai, Peter, to chair the annual general meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the management and administration of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board
committees of the Company (the “Board Committee”). Further
details of the Board Committees are set out in this annual report.
Under the terms of reference, the duties of the Board in respect of
corporate governance are as follows:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.
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Composition of the Board

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhong Zhiwei (@ppointed on 22 March 2024)

Mr. Liu Yingjie (resigned on 22 March 2024)
Ms. Zhou Jin (resigned on 18 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Cao Hongmin

Mr. Chan Chi Pan

Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter

The Company complied with the requirement under Rule 5.05(1)
and Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company to each
of the independent non-executive Directors to confirm their
independence pursuant to Rules 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. In
this connection, the Company has received positive confirmations
from all of the independent non-executive Directors. Based on
the confirmations received, the Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent under the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has established mechanisms pursuant to Code
provision B1.4 to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board, which the Board shall review on an annual
basis to ensure the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms. A summary of the mechanism is set out below:

1)  the Board shall ensure the appointment of at least three
INEDs and at least one-third of its members being INED.

2) the INED candidate must satisfy the independence
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. Each INED is
also required to inform the Company as soon as practicable
if there is any change in his or her own personal particulars
that may materially affect his or her independence and
provide an annual confirmation of his or her independence
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.
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3) The Company is committed to ensuring that the INEDs
will be given the opportunity and channel for Directors to
communicate and express their independent views and
inputs to the Board and its committees.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of
the Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report,
there is no financial business, family or other material or
relevant relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.

Board and General Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well
as operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors
may participate either in person or through electronic means of
communications.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had 15 meetings and 1
general meetings. The attendance of the respective Directors at
the Board meetings and general meetings are set out below:

Executive Director WITES

Mr. Liu Yingjie BIHEATE

Ms. Zhou Jin Zhou JinZ =+

Independent Non-executive BIERITES
Director

Mr. Cao Hongmin EHRESE

Mr. Chan Chi Pan PR S e

Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter TERIBRE
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors in respect
of the shares of the Company (the “Code of Conduct’). After
specific enquiries of all the Directors by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they have fully complied with the required
standard of dealing set out in the Code of Conduct throughout the
Reporting Period, and the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with such required standard of dealings regarding
securities transactions by Directors throughout the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample
continuing professional development for the Directors for a sound
and effective internal system and corporate governance. In this
regard, the Group has always encouraged our Directors to attend
relevant training courses to receive the latest news ad knowledge
regarding corporate governance.
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According to the Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors, on an
ongoing basis, have been provided with reading materials in
relation to amendments to or updates on relevant laws, rules and
regulations relevant to their duties. The Company has encouraged
all Directors to attend a wide range of training courses on the
updates of the GEM Listing Rules concerning good corporate
governance practices. The Company will, if necessary, provide
timely and regular trainings to the Directors to ensure that they
are kept abreast of the latest requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules. The Group has also adopted a policy to reimburse the
Directors for any relevant training costs and expenses incurred
concerning corporate governance and internal control.

Name of Directors

E5NY

Mr. Liu Yingjie REANFKE
Ms. Zhou Jin Zhou Jin¥
Mr. Cao Hongmin BHRSE
Mr. Chan Chi Pan PRSI ST A
Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter FTEEEE
Mr. Zhong Zhiwei BERILE

Type of trainings:
A:  attending seminars/conferences/forums
B: reading books, journals and updates relating to the general

business, risk management, regulatory updates and directors’
duties and responsibilities.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees
in compliance with the relevant GEM Listing Rules and to
assist the Board to discharge its duties. Currently, three
committees has been established, i.e. the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“‘Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the
‘Remuneration Committee”). The function and responsibilities
of these committees have been set out in the relevant terms of
reference which are of no less stringent than that stated in the
Code. The relevant terms of reference of each of the three can
be found on the Group’s website (www.gf-holdings.com) and
the website of the Stock Exchange. All committees have been
provided with sufficient resources and support from the Group to
discharge their duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 2 August
2014 with its terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, and provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of
the Code. The majority of the Audit Committee members must be
independent non-executive Directors and must be chaired by an
independent non-executive Directors. If any member of the Audit
Committee ceases to be a Director, he/she will cease to be a
member of the Audit Committee automatically.

The Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three
members, at least one of whom is an independent non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualification or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under Rule
5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. In addition, the majority of the
Audit Committee shall be independent non-executive Directors.
As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three
members, namely Mr. Li Kar Fai Peter (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi
Pang and Mr. Cao Hongmin.

The Company complied with the requirement under Rule 5.28 of

the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2023.
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With reference to the terms of reference, the primary
responsibilities of the Audit Committee are, among others (for
the complete terms of reference, please refer to the Company’s
website at www.gf-holdings.com):

10.

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and re-appointment of the Company’s external auditors, and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
Company’s external auditors;

to review and monitor the Company’s external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards;

to develop and implement policy on engaging the
Company’s external auditors to supply non-audit services, if
any;

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

to discuss with the Company’s external auditors questions
and doubts arising in audit of annual accounts;

to review the letter of the Company’s management from
the Company’s external auditors and the management’s
response;

to review the statement about the Company’s internal
control system as included in the Company’s annual report
prior to submission for the Board'’s approval;

to review the Company’s financial reporting, financial
controls, internal control and risk management system;

to discuss the internal control system with the Company’s
management to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have an effective internal control system;

to consider major investigation findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative
and management’s response to these findings;
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11. to review the financial and accounting policies and practices
of the Group;

12. to review arrangements employees of the Company can
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters; and

use,

13. to report to the Board on that matters pursuant to the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee and consider other
topics as defined by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had held 6
meetings. The attendance records of the members of the Audit
Committee during the Reporting Period are summarized below:

. BHREENMHERETERRET ;

12. BNARAEEEPIBRMPFZRER A
eI EM T E A ERENNEETT
HITHEENZHE ; K

13. REELZEENHELREDESSE
BERMEETEEEFEFIER

L

RSN BEZEEEHRITT6
WEHR - BREEGNE Z HFC i
mE

X A
REFH N

Attendance/

Number of meetings

HERE EHRRYU

Member of Audit Committee BZZEEgHE
Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter TEERE
Mr. Chan Chi Pan PR SR S A
Mr. Cao Hongmin BHRRE

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed
the Group’s audited results for the year ended 31 December
2022, the unaudited quarterly results of the Group for the three
months ended 31 March 2023, the unaudited interim results of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023, the unaudited
quarterly results of the Group for the nine months ended 30
September 2023 and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee had also reviewed the
Group’s audited annual results for the Reporting Period, this
annual report, and confirmed that this annual report complies
with the applicable standard, the GEM Listing Rules, and other
applicable legal requirements and those adequate disclosures
have been made. There is no disagreement between the Directors
and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and appointment
of the external auditors.

The Board is of the view that the Audit Committee has properly

discharged its duties and responsibilities during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 2 August 2014
with terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 at
the GEM Listing Rules, and provision E.1.2 of the Code. As at the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, namely Mr. Cao Hongmin (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chi
Pan and Mr. Li Kar Fai Peter, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors.

With reference to the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, the primary responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include (for the complete terms of reference, please
refer to the Company’s website at www.gf-holdings.com):

1. to consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive
about their remuneration proposals for other executive
Directors;

2. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

3. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

4.  to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management;

5. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

6. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;
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7. 1o review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;
and

8. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held
2 meetings. The attendance records of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are summarized below:

Member of Remuneration Committee HMEESERE

Mr. Cao Hongmin BHRERE
Mr. Chan Chi Pan BeR R ot &
Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter FTErELL

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee had
reviewed the remuneration packages and performance of the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board is of the view that the Remuneration Committee has
properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 2 August 2014
with terms of reference in compliance with provisions B.3.1 and
B.3.2 of the Code. As at the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Chan Chi Pan
(Chairman), Mr. Cao Hongmin and Li Kar Fai, Peter, all of whom
are independent non-executive Directors.
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With reference to the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee, the primary responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include (for the complete terms of reference, please
refer to the Company’s website at www.gf-holdings.com):

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make
recommendation on proposed changes, if any, to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to review the Company’s board diversity policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing
the said policy;

3. identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

4.  to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

5. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee had
held 1 meeting. The attendance records of the members of the
Nomination Committee are summarized below:

Member of Nomination Committee RBEEEETHE

Mr. Chan Chi Pan [P e
Mr. Cao Hongmin EHRLSE
Mr. Li Kar Fai Peter FTEELE
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee had
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, and reviewed the qualifications of the Directors and the
progress on the implementation of the board diversity policy.

The Board is of the view that the Nomination Committee has
properly discharged its duties and responsibilities during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 1 January 2019. It aims at strengthen the
transparency and accountability of the Board and/or Nomination
Committee on election of directors including independent non-
executive directors. The Board will review the Nomination Policy
from time to time.

Selection Criteria of Directors

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate to be nominated to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendation to shareholders for election as directors of
the Company at the general meetings and appoint him/her to fill
casual vacancies.

° Qualifications and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved or is going to be

involved;

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest

o Reputation for integrity; and
° Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,

cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR

RREHE REEECEERNEFTTRE
ME KRB SHEBIUIFATEFHE
T BREFEREREFTEMES TIER
RAVE R -

EFER5 RREAREERRSBHLL
RBELEGCHERITHBHKEE

RBEER

ARBERT-—NE—B—BHRMN—ER
LEER (RBEER) » EEMBRESFE R,
HIRBRZEGNEF (BEBIUIFNTES)
ERHENEHERBEN EFERTH
IRE R B ER °

EREmERE
REZEEGNTERESTRBBEBREA
ZEBMUHEEEARNRKRERE ERES
AABEZARRFLIEBRZE REERIE
FRZERES A2 E LU ¢

o RERDEBFREIARL B ZABRTE
B RAEER ;

o AIRARBRIBRMEBRIENAGE ;

. EfEEE R

s EFERHTEMNZTE SFEEFRRR
M XIERASER BE BEL
B~ $RAE ~ MBS BRFS 5



These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

The Nomination Committee shall call a meeting, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members (if any) for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by Board members;

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information, together with their written consent to
be appointed as a director of the Company. The Nomination
Committee may request candidates to provide additional
information and documents, if considered necessary;

The Nomination Committee shall evaluate the proposed
candidate’s suitability with reference to the factors stated above
and make recommendation(s) to the Board’s consideration and
approval;

In the case of the re-election of a director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution of
the directors to the Company and their services, their participation
and performance within the Board, and whether such director
still meets the needs to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy.

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

The Group adopted policy in relation to the diversity of the
members of the Board (‘Board Diversity Policy”) and summary
of the policy is as follows:

1. selection of Board members will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, which would include but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service; and

2. the Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of the diversity policy from time to time to ensure the
effectiveness of the diversity policy.
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With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly
diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in
the skills, regional and industry experience, background, gender
and other qualities of the Directors. These differences will be
considered in determining the optimum composition of the Board.
All appointment of the Directors are made on meritocracy, and will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity oon the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises four Directors,
three are INEDs, thereby promoting critical review and control
of the management process. Following the resignation of Ms.
Zhou Jin on 15 July 2023, the Board comprised four males,
representing 100% of the Board; and our senior management
comprised one male, representing 100% of senior management.
In order to achieve gender diversity on the Board, the Board will
appoint one female Board member no later than 31 December
2024.

Construction industry has generally been short of female talents
due to social and culture traditions. The Company managed to
maintain a gender ratio of male to female in the workforce of
approximately 4:1.

The Board has met the goals for gender diversity under the Board
Diversity Policy for FY2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends
on 1 January 2019. It aims at enhancing transparency of the
Company and facilitating its shareholders and the potential
investors of the Company to make informed investment decision
relating to the Company. The Board will review the dividend policy
from time to time.
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While the Company intends to declare and pay dividends in the
future, the payment and the amount of any dividends will depend
on a number of factors, including but not limited to:

1. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

2. the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

3. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

4.  the Group’s liquidity position;

5. the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Group; and

6. any other factors that the board of directors of the Company
deems relevant.

Shareholders will be entitled to receive such dividends pro rata
according to the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on the
shares. The declaration, payment, and amount of dividends will be
subject to the Board’s discretion.

Dividends may be paid only out of distributable profits as
permitted under the relevant laws. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to declare or distribute any dividend
in the amount set out in any of the plans or at all. The Company’s
dividend distribution record in the past may not be used as a
reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be
declared or paid by the Company in the future.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged AOGB CPA
Limited (“AOGB”) as the Group’s external auditors to conduct
audit of the financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023. The auditor’s remuneration paid or payable for
the Reporting Period is set out below:

Services rendered

fe (HARFS

Audit of financial statements

BV BRE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Wai Kee (“Mr. Cheung’) is the company secretary
of the Company. Mr. Cheung has adequate knowledge on the
Company to discharge his duty as the company secretary of the
Company. Mr. Cheung confirmed that he had taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the Reporting
Period.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management. The Board must ensure that the Company
establishes and maintains effective internal control and risk
management systems to meet the objectives and safeguard the
interests of the Shareholders and the assets of the Company.
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The Board oversees the overall risk management and internal
control system of the Group on an ongoing basis and endeavors
to identify, control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The risk
management and internal control systems compatible with the
Commissioner of Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) - Integrated Framework 2013 principles are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures to
achieve business objectives, and provide only reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group has established a risk management policy set out
the process of identification, evaluation and management of the
principal risks affecting the business.

1. Each division is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks within its division. It identifies and assesses
the principal risks on a quarterly basis with mitigation plans
to manage those risks;

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management and internal control activities of the Group,
quarterly meetings with each division to ensure principal
risks are properly managed, and new or changing risks are
identified and documented;

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management
and internal controls.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risk associated with our different
business units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s
appetite.

The Company does not have an internal audit department
and engaged an external internal control consultant, Premier
Advisory Services Limited, to conduct review on the internal
control system of the Group during the Reporting Period. The
review covering certain procedures and implementation of risk
management policies of the Group and make recommendations
for improvement and strengthening of internal control system.
No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance, controls and risk management of the
Group have been identified.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control system are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience training programs
and budget of accounting and financial reporting function and
the Board has reached the conclusion that the Group’s risk
management and internal control system was in place and
effective.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Group has adopted a policy on disclosure of
inside information with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by
the confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation
of the inside information.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s operations, financial condition, business directions
and prospects may be affected by various risk factors and
uncertainties. The major risks and uncertainties for the Group are
identified below. Except as stated below, there may be other risks
and uncertainties unknown to the Group or not material at present
but could become material in the future.

Strategy Risk

The Group’s businesses are closely related to the changes in
economic environment, market competition, political and legal
development in which the Group operates, which may have
significant impact to the Group’s current or future business, results
of operation or financial condition.

Financial Risk

The Group’s financial risks mainly include foreign exchange risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and market risk. For
further details of such risk and relevant management policies,
please refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Operation Risk

Operation risk refers to the risk that losses will be incurred
because of the shortage or failure of an internal business process,
staffing or system, or attributable to an external event. Managing
the operating risk is, in general, the duty of each functional
department. The Group is of the opinion that operating risk cannot
be eliminated entirely and will have an impact on our operating
results and earnings. The Group has issued guidance about
internal standard operating procedures, authorities and reporting
hierarchy. The Company has engaged independent internal
control consultant to assess and review the major operations and
report any risks to the Board every year.

Talent Pool Risk

Recruiting the right people is an essential factor for the
development of an enterprise. Competition is intense in the
industry and regions in which the Group operates its business.
The shortage or loss of personnel with appropriate skills or
experience could pose a potential risk impacting the Group’s
ability to achieve its goals. The Group provides competitive
salaries and benefits as well as various incentives to attract the
right talent, however, there is no assurance that the Group would
be able to retain capable staffs.

Risk of entering new market

The Group is contemplating to expand the prefabricated
construction business into new geographic market. The
expansion plan may be hindered by various risks and
uncertainties, such as legal and regulatory barriers, cultural
and language differences, political and economic instability,
customer loyalty and trust, and competitive pressure. There is no
assurance that the Group would be able to successfully maintain
or increase the Group’s market share or grow the business
successfully after deploying the management and financial
resources. Any failure in implementing the plan could materially
and adversely affect the Group’s business. Any initial payment or
investment for the new business may not be recovered when the
counterparty may not fulfill its part of the deal and may default on
the contractual obligations. The Company has adopted a policy
with regard to prepayment not relating to the ordinary course of
existing businesses in order to assess, mitigate and monitor the
counterparty risk associated with entering into new business.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements and to ensure that the financial
statements of the Group are prepared in a manner which reflects
the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash flows
of the Group and are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure
provisions required under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
are of the view that the financial statements of the Group for each
financial year have been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there are no uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Statement of the Company’s external auditors’ responsibilities in
respect of the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

On 8 June 2023, the Company resolved by special resolution
to adopt the second amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company (the “2nd Amended
M&A”) in the annual general meeting. The 2nd Amended M&A is
available on the Company’s website.

GENERAL MEETINGS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) is a forum in which
the Board and the Shareholders communicate directly and
exchange views concerning the affairs and overall performance
of the Group, and its future developments, etc. At the AGM,
the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
will answer questions raised by the Shareholders. The external
auditor of the Company is also invited to be present at the AGM
to address to queries of the Shareholders concerning the audit
procedures and the auditors’ report.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company at which a special
resolution is to be passed is scheduled to be held on 7 June
2024, the notice of which shall be sent to the Shareholders at
least 21 days prior to this meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting on
Requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”).
EGMs shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, all reasonable
expenses incurred by the acquisition(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders’ Nomination of
Directors

Pursuant to article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than
a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his wilingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office of
the Company. The period for lodgement of the notices required
under the Articles will commence no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
7 days.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries concerning their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrars. Shareholders
may also make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent that such information has been made publicly available by
the Company. All written enquiries or requests may be forwarded
to the Company’s head office or by fax to (852) 3571 9460, or by
email to info@gf-holdings.com.

The addresses of the Company head office and the Company’s
share registrars can be found in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures to
investors, the Group delivers information of the Group to the
public through various channels, including general meeting, public
announcement and financial reports. The investors are also able
to access the latest news and information of the Group via our
website (www.gf-holdings.com).

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy which aims at promoting effective communication with
the Company’s shareholders and the investors, enabling them to
exercise their rights in an informed manner. It is the Company’s
general policy to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investors. Enquiries, suggestions or views from the
shareholders and/or investors are welcomed, and enquiries from
the shareholders may be put in writing to the Board through the
following channels to the Company:

Address: Suite 821, 8th Floor

Ocean Centre, Harbour City
5 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Email: info@gf-holdings.com

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of its communication policy during the Reporting Period and
conclude that it is effective.
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AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED

Glory Flame Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), believe
operating sustainably and quality growth is the key to our success
and the economic basis for us to practice social responsibility. The
Group strives to integrate environmentally friendly practices into all
aspects of our daily operations to grow its business and create a
positive impact on the market.

For the Reporting Period, the Group and its subsidiaries are
mainly engaged in provision of concrete demolition services
and manufacturing and trading of prefabricated construction
components.

REPORTING SCOPE AND STANDARDS

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (‘ESG Guide”) as
set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“SEHK”). The information in this ESG Report is derived from
the Group’s official documents and statistical data, as well as
the integration and summary of monitoring, management and
operational information provided by subsidiaries of the Group.
Information on the environmental and social aspects of the report
is set out below.

The reporting period of this ESG report is from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023 (“Reporting Period”). This report highlights
significant environmental and social impacts of our business
activities in the provision of concrete demolition and construction
engineering services, and the manufacturing and trading of
prefabricated precast construction components.

The information contained herein is sourced from internal
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as the combined
control, management and operations information provided by the
subsidiaries in accordance with the Group’s internal management
systems. A complete content index is appended to the last
section of the report for easy reference.
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ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The views of stakeholders serve as a strong basis for the Group’s
performance and sustainable growth. Stakeholder engagement
is a crucial component of Glory Flame’s social responsibility
management because it helps us identify the social and
environmental concerns that matter most to our stakeholders. We
discuss ideas on environmental, occupational health and safety,
and quality management in our frequent meetings with clients
and subcontractors. We consider their viewpoints while making
daily operational decisions and work to effectively communicate
in order to balance the interests of all parties. The stakeholders in
the Group are shown in the table below.

FRE2H

FOENRREAEREERAFEE RN
BEER -FNESANFARASEIER
WEZEME D ABEBRAMEER
NERBEN G RIRIEME - RPIEE A
BERROEBEERNIRE HERR 22

HEEENHM -RMAEHEHSEER
REFEBRSAMBR SHEWEE &
B M e PRI AERFEDE -

Communication Channel

Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholder
Frin&#HR BERMDE
Investors o Shareholders
REE &R
° Potential investors
BEREE
Employees o Senior management
=35 BB
o Staff
BT
o Direct workers
BETA
° Potential recruits
BEEE
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° Corporate website
gt N

° Annual and interim financial report
FERPHRYBRS

° Quarterly reports, announcements
and other public information
FERPHRYBRS

o Annual general meetings
RRBEFRE

o Direct communication
HEESB

o Independent focus groups and
interviews
BUEE/NERER

° Training and seminars
Hl A&

° Regular performance assessment
EHAR IR T

° CSR and volunteering activities
TEHEEEREEEE



Stakeholder Groups

FnE 4R

Customers

EFR

Suppliers/Contractors

HiER A e

Community

e

Government

B F

Specific Stakeholder
RERGNE

° Main-contractors
KR

o Buyers
BXR

o Ultimate users
BB

o Material suppliers
MM FE R

° Sub-contractors
e

° Service providers

AR5 A& 7

° National and local community
organisations
RSt EAS

o National and local governments
2B K 8t BT
° Regulators

BEEHE
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Communication Channel
BERE

Periodical meetings with
contractors and customers
BRBERE R ERRS
Customers assessment

F R

Designated customer hotline

ERER

Suppliers assessment

HAEF TG

Daily work review

FHIFigst

Site inspection/meeting with sub-
contractors
BEMRR AN BEEE

Charitable donations
wEEm

Community programme
tHE5HE

Written correspondence
SHEX

Statutory reports and general
disclosures
EERE R— MR E
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To aid in the compilation of this Report, the Group reviews its
operations, identifies relevant ESG issues, and evaluates the
significance and assesses the importance of related matters to
its business and stakeholders. Based on the identified significant
ESG issues, a data collection questionnaire was prepared to
collect information from relevant stakeholders of the Group.

By consolidating the results of internal assessment and survey, we
have compiled the materiality matrix as shown below. We strive
to make sure appropriate actions on important issues are taken
across our business operations.
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Protecting our planet Responsible value chain
fReEhIK BEENEERE
1 Air and noise emissions control 12 Corporate governance and compliance
& R A R E BE T TEEBRIESR
2 Resource management (energy, water and waste) 13  Anti-corruption
BEREIE BR KKRBEEY) k&5
& Project management and material usage 14  Confidentiality and data privacy
HEBERMEMER W K BARTAR
4 Site environment impact 15 Product and service quality management
i LIRIE R & EnkBRBEREEE
5 Green office 16  Customer safety, engagement and satisfaction
REMWAE BERZ2 - BABRERREE
6 Climate change 17 Customers’ and users’ health and safety
RiEE1E ERRARPNBERZE
18  Supplier and subcontractor engagement
HEEE R D EEEE

19  Supplier and subcontractors’ environmental and
social responsibility
HEBRSEENIRERITEER

20 Transparent and fair procurement practices

BHRAFRRIEE
Dedicated workforce Corporate citizen
MEMET TEAR
7 Occupational health and safety 21 Community investment and engagement
BEERRZE HERERSHE
8 Employment practices 22  Site impact on local communities
RESIE B IR EMtENTE

9 Employee training and development
EEEIIRER

10 Diversity and equal opportunity
Stk TERS

11 Protecting human rights (child and forced labour)

RIEAE (EIRKEFIZ I
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PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

Global warming is undeniably escalating. The Group is aware of
its responsibilities and the need to adhere to the environmental
sustainability of its ongoing operations. As a prominent actor
in the construction sector, we support the green environment
concept and adhere to the rules and regulations of Hong Kong
and the PRC, as well as any industry-specific guidelines.

EMISSIONS

Since we are aware that reducing emissions is becoming a
more and more significant component of the global economy,
environmental management has been incorporated into the
Group’s operational decisions and numerous processes. When
building, the primary sources of emissions from our daily
operations are waste, noise, greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions,
and effluents.

Environmentally Friendly Demolition Methods

Construction materials such as sands and cement stored outdoor
as well as the dust of the exposed construction area are easily
scattered. To reduce dust generation during our operation, we
use environmentally friendly construction technologies such
as scarifying and shot blasting. These methods significantly
reduce the amount of dust emitted to the surrounding areas of
construction sites. It also offers outstanding bonding qualities that
limit the possibility of coating breakdown, improving road safety
and maximizing floor life.

For projects involving indoor demolition, technologies that did not
generate exhaust fumes and caused only minor vibration during
work were used. To maintain worker safety, our machines may be
remotely operated, allowing our workers to avoid working near the
demolition regions.

We also adopt splitting/bursting as a demolition method. This
approach involves inserting a splitter into a pre-drilled hole in the
concrete structure to burst it from within, resulting in minimal noise
and vibration.
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Prefabricated construction components

Unlike traditional construction methods, prefabricated
construction components are built in a factory environment,
allowing resources to be recycled or reused. Dust and noise
emissions can be decreased significantly more as a result of
compressed project timeframes and the production factory’s
regulated environment. In our production factory, we have
introduced a water spraying device for daily maintenance of sub-
assemblies and for the prevention of dust scattering.

For the Reporting Period, air emissions generated by the Group
were as follows:

Emissions data from usage of FHERTEE
vehicles and gaseous fuel RELHFER
consumption BERR BhiE

Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) KEA1EYIINOY

Sulphur Oxide (SO mEE¥(SOy

Particulate Matter (PM) BRI )(PM)
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RAC T B4

HEBERRESETR REENBEBHERE
TRIRIBPRE > AsFEREIWNS BRI A - H
REENEEREERREERFENEEIR
1% K EE R MRS HFI A K@i o FEFAFIBV
ERRP > 51 T EKEE » ARRAEER
A S B LR EE

PRASREHN  AEBEERERIFRINT

kg ¥ 506.82 556.46
kg F5 0.69 0.71
kg F55 45.17 50.10

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #

47



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANGE REPORT
R (1B REARS

For the Reporting Period, GHG emissions generated by the Group R ZASIR SR AEBEERNRE RN
were as follows: [N

Unit (CO2
equivalent)

B (TH
EREE)

Direct emission or removals from sources (Scope 1)

BRI RERRHMR (BEE1)

GHG emissions from mobile and Carbon Dioxide (COz) tonne 128.60 114.60
stationary combustion sources
mEkEEMRERIEE REBHIR Z|16HK(CO2) 5
Methane (CHa) kg 121.05 107.23
A J5E(CHa) T
Nitrous oxide (N20) tonne 5.18 5.00
F1EEAN:0) T

Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)

AETR R EHFK (8EE2)

Electricity purchased from Carbon Dioxide (COz) tonne 134.50 136.40
power companies
RKENRBEENE Z&1EHK(COe) i

Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)

Hith sk (EEE3)

Paper waste disposed at landfills Carbon Dioxide (COz) tonne 4.35 1.41
EEIHIEEER Z&1EHR(CO?) 5

Electricity used for processing Carbon Dioxide (COz) kg 1,941.84 1,872.61

fresh water and sewage by the
government department’

BREPERE N RER KK ZE{EHR(CO) F=
57K
Business air travel? Carbon Dioxide (COz) kg 549.00 -
P 755 A ZE IR T2 ZE{EHR(CO) F=
L The total amount of Scope 3 emissions in 2022 has been updated HRERAR—8 ZE " FEESHIN
from 39.73 kg to 1,872.61 kg due to data misalignment. MEEW39.73 TR EME,872.61F e
2 Due to COVID-19 pandemic, there has been no business air travel 2 HRHERSERE NS - " F  HMI
by our employees during 2022. mEESFRLREEBINAT
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

Handling and disposing of solid waste are an urgent
environmental issue in Hong Kong. The Group realises that the
construction wastes generated on construction sites will place a
heavy burden on waste disposal facilities.

The primary source of waste is the removal of non-hazardous
items from our construction sites, which have all been
appropriately transported to approved receiving facilities in
compliance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance’s regulations.
Before the debris is removed from the site, the Group generally
classifies the waste from construction projects. When it comes
to general inert trash from work, like rocks, they should either be
disposed of in public fill for future reclamation or used again at the
site as fill material. To save landfill space, any additional garbage
that cannot be recycled or reused should be dumped in public
filling areas.

In terms of office waste, we will continue to encourage our
employees to completely utilize all materials in order to prevent
creating unnecessary waste and to reduce paper usage through
electronic means.

For the Reporting Period, the amount of non-hazardous waste
produced by the Group was as follows:
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R EIE

REREEEREYEEBRBRIRIER
B AEETHEZR T MELNEREY
SRRV RIER TSI ERE

BEYHNEERREABRETHBEIFCRY
oh ’ G LY 2 R (BEY R B 15 51) BIFR
B> Z A IER T DA HIIEUGR BT © TEHE BEIIE
TH#BEZH AEE—RIGHEREEN
BEY)pfE - ER TREEEN—RIBHELR
B0 BREEFEARIBEBRRERKIESZ
B ST B R B IEHEEM R - AEE A
B ZE[E > E R AP EIR 2 B B RVRE MK B
EERNMIAER o

MM AEBEYNS  RAREESR EST
EEAMAEMHBREETUNERRE
MBEEAEFH LU ARRER

RARESHN  AEBEEVESEYNT

Construction waste EEEY) tonne 2,170.32 1,656.41
M5

Construction waste intensity BREYEE tonne/work order 1.61 1.71
mE, T{EsTE8

Paper waste EEAR tonne 0.91 0.29
5

Paper waste intensity BEREE tonne/employee 0.0095 0.0030
WEEE
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To reduce waste production, the Group separates waste before
disposal and take waste to the allocated sorting area. We have
adopted a trip-ticket system to avoid fly-tipping and to ensure
waste is disposed of properly when our client did not provide the
disposal area. The Group also implement the following measures
to reduce:

° Maximise the utilisation of materials and avoid unnecessary
use and cutting;

° Reuse construction waste materials for other construction
projects;

° Order the appropriate amount of raw material at the
appropriate time;

° Store materials in an allocated area with suitable protective
measures;

° Periodically review operating procedures to minimise waste
generation; and

° Collect the exact number of materials and return the surplus
to stock as needed.

Due to our business nature (provision of construction services and

building materials supply), no hazardous waste was generated
from our operations for the Reporting Period.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR

RTEE AEBERERYAIS TR EEY
D8 W EYHEIEE DR - B FIERA
BHECHGE  UBERES P ARIRHEIIRE
BEEAER T BEEIRENIR I b fRIR
FSEIL BRI - AEB IR R LUR
[EE

o RAREFNBME BRALENER
RAIDE

o  REREBEVENANHEMRRES

s HFEERGI]REEEHENRME

o RIMEHFIREIEE & B FREE & BV R

SR .
E% gt ;

s TEHETRFEFUSERNLVEYNVE
£ &K

o WERIHENIMRIREEERRIER
BIR[EETF-

MR RPN EF I E R R SRR
BHIERD) 78 RPN EENEEL B E
EERBEEY -



USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has proactively taken on our environmental
responsibilities in our day-to-day operations, developed the
code of practice, and developed the necessary technical skills
to deliver on the Group’s goal to achieve ecologically sustainable
development. Paper, electricity, and water use are the Group’s
three main resource consumption categories. Both running
an office and doing construction require energy consumption
in the form of gasoline and electricity. Electricity was used
for office operations, while most of the fuel was used for
equipment operation and ground transportation during delivery.
Our organization prioritizes the conservation of resources and
endeavors to augment energy efficiency through the reinforcement
of construction equipment maintenance, optimization of
operational operations, and implementation of energy-saving
measures.

Several initiatives have been implemented in offices and
construction sites to control energy consumption as follows:

Office °

WA=

REMEF THERDBR24AE26E 2 ;
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BiREA

AEFTHEEERBHAERFREE F
ST TAESTRIM S R BRI M AE » LUER
AEBBRERAFELRNERHE
IKTHAEEN = AEBERHFEER - PR
RBEFHFEUVANEN - BHARRAE
BE > MADMREIRARRBRIERTE
HAR A B E o AU BN E RSB &
NBEBNRERREEE  BILEERIFK

BEIsE iR S AR o

WA R RS AR 25 Y BE OB FE M B HEAY
MIBEEGT ¢

Set and maintain average room temperatures between 24°C and 26°C;

o Switch off office equipment (e.g. printers, computers and monitors) before leaving the

workplace;

BEF LRGP AR A ERE WIT N - ERKRRES) ;

° Energy-friendly electrical appliances and devices, including LED lighting, and computers and

projectors, have been installed; and

ZEMEER K& BELEDRB AR BRI ; K

U Priority was given to energy-efficient and low-emissions models to save electricity and reduce

indirect greenhouse gases generated

BeE B REHBIRIL LB BN/ D EREEBERE

Site ° Switch off non-essential lightings as well as idle machinery and equipment; and
Tih FiE M ENRIALUURFE MR RE ; &

o Various communications (posters, signs and memos) for promoting energy conservation have
been launched to raise construction workers’ awareness.

HHEEREHENENL N WK 1RE

RET) IR RETANEERH -
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Apart from office operations, our construction division consumes
the majority of the Group’s water. To alleviate water scarcity and
decrease the negative influence on the surrounding environment,
the Group uses water resources wisely and tightly regulates
sewage outflow. To promote water conservation, the Group
implemented a variety of water saving techniques in both offices
and project locations. In our everyday operations, we practice
control measures such as protecting the drainage system and
discharge point to avoid blockages, as well as conducting
frequent self-monitoring inspections to verify that the quality of
the effluent discharged meets the stipulated criteria. To reduce
freshwater consumption and sewage, ground wastewater from
our building sites is collected, appropriately cleaned, and then
reused for dust suppression and vehicle tire washing mud.
Additionally, our subcontractors were urged to collaborate closely
with our employees in order to put the necessary safeguards in
place to stop freshwater waste on the job site.

To achieve our efficient use of energy, the Group advocates
the Reduce, Replace and Reuse approach, in line with national
initiatives. Our management will constantly update the latest news
on environmental protection to enhance existing services and
reduce environmental pollution.

For the Reporting Period, the resources consumption by the
Group were as follows:

PRI A EEEIN RPINRREPIEFERE
BYREB D 7K o 7% R K B IRFE TR B Rl
HEZRENEEZE AEEGENAK
EIRRERIBIERS KPR o IR B EIK > A&
BEMAERIAE (BTSRRI
T HBEZER  RPIRBUEERIEN > A RE
KRR B A B R (K BT
TERRSE  URERHFRBSKNERE
AR GHRERE 5 TR RIKAISKATH
o WPIWERR Tyt E K E1TEE
Bt ZEBRERARINEIZENE L E R

BRI e EN BB EERES
B> DUBRER S ZRRIEIE T8 e T B /KR
o

HEREFNERERER  ZEEREERE
KIEZR KR BB AT A T
WEERE G EMARIRRIRIHEE
DERFIRA IRB AR IR 5 e o

RARSHN > REBNERHFENT ¢

Electricity Consumption HEE KWh F E ¥ 253,871.60 252,013.83
kWh/employee 2,644.50 2,571.57
TR EE

Water Consumption? FAkEs AV S 3,012 2,953
mé3/employee 31.38 30.22
YHKEE

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations do not involve
any use of packaging materials.
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Given the rising greenhouse effect and climate change, energy
conservation, carbon reduction, and pollution reduction have
become global challenges that may touch all of us. Our operations
have no significant environmental or natural resource impact,
as mandated by applicable environmental laws. To guarantee
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, we conduct
frequent reviews of our activities’ environmental hazards and take
preventive measures as needed to mitigate them.

To join the global efforts in reducing emissions and secure
a sustainable future, the Group took into consideration the
industry’s best practices and analysed its previous quantitative
environmental data disclosed in past ESG reports in developing a
set of appropriate environmental targets. To this end, we have set
clear emission reduction targets to be achieved by the year 2026
by comparing with the 2021 baseline year:

° Reduce greenhouses gases emission by 10%;
° Reduce waste disposal by 10%; and
° Reduce resources consumption by 10%.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has complied with
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance,
Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance,
Dumping at Sea Ordinance, Environment Impact Assessment
Ordinance and other regulations promulgated by governments
and currently applicable to the Group, as well as environmental
requirements from customers.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in relation to air and GHG
emissions, noise control, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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RIERRAER

MICEEME R RIEEIEEHmME] > #EER
B B TSR ARERMSEARNEIKE
P - RIBEERNIRIRARRE  RFINEE
TEHIRRNERERELEERTE - BT
BRETEBIEARER RAKEEER
FBEBRIRZMNE S LRI ZRTER
EREES -

=T BEREBN—DF > BRRERDF
BER AEESZEAREWE UONHE
RBERE L ERE QRS TIKEN LA
BEREEE URE-—EBENREAER
St JFE T - —FREFEITHER B
FIER T RERIBIABIHIRRERER

s CEEREIHMERI10%;
o EEMIEEIERI0%; K
o EBERHFERI0%-

EREEENEEAR AEBEET(ER
SRERNRE)  (BEYRERG) - OKSRE
FUEGI) ~ (B ERNRDI) ~ OB _LREIMIRHE
BN~ CRIBRESHAIRD)) REUFE M B BRI
BRRAERZEMER  UkEFREH
RIREK

PRI EEAR  AEB A B ERBER
ERICREREHI RS R [k s i
FsUREEREERESREY BN TEEE
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RIS~ HERE

:FEIZI

CLIMATE CHANGE RIRE1E

Focus Area

]

Governance

&l

Strategy
SRR

Risk
Management
g =

Metrics and
Targets
EERBE

Our Approach
BB A R

Board oversight: The Board meets quarterly to oversee climate-related strategies,
policies, actions and disclosure.

EXgEE EXo8FTEAMAERH UBEEEREERARE  BER - 1TE R
Eo

Management’s role: The Management supports climate action planning and internal
policy setting, as well as coordinating responses to climate-related risks.

EEENRE EEEXRFRETHRIKLAEBERSIE » UK HAREHREEREE

2
oo O
o

Policies and guidelines: The Management meets monthly and discusses any
potential climate change risk to our business. Corresponding mitigative measures will be
implemented and reviewed from time to time to assess their effectiveness.

HRkiES|  EEESRAMER ImHMEFEERNEAETRIEZCAR AR
B B B T e A 5 AR PR AR AR R A LIS LA R -

Physical risks: Weather-related events such as storms, floods, fires or heatwaves that
cause damage to construction site facilities and operations. We work closely with the
sub-contractor at the site and assist with implementing fast-response measures, regular
inspections and hoarding to ensure sufficient sites operations.

BERAR: BXRAMANSEH AR HK KKHER) EHEET MR ERE

LB E - RMBEREN D EEEYE(E BB IRREEEH - THIR ﬁ&hﬁﬁﬁuuﬁﬁ
EiE URRRIZEERE

Transition risks: Impacts related to market risk are assessed in our construction materials
and energy efficiency requirements. In line with national initiative, we also keep abreast of
green building technologies.

BERE : RPUSMEEME RERNGHRETEETZRBERNTE - RELSE
KiEFH HATRRERGERERKM-

Climate-related risks are incorporated into the Group’s risk management framework and
ESG materiality assessment by different stakeholders. The Group will monitor and follow
up on both transition and physical climate-related risks and set up the policy to respond
with our management.

R A E B %)B‘Z/TH%'J iR EMNASEEN AR EIEERMESCGE E T H o A&
EREERIRERERREEAERRRE  IHEBRUERMNERELRREY

Our management encourages employees to participate in green workshops to enhance
their environmental awareness, and continuously assess compliance with the green office
guidelines.

EMNEEEXBET2ERE TR UMESHERREH# UGN HABMAE
IESINERET-
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

The Group places a high value on individuals and recognizes
the importance of maintaining a respectful and equitable work
environment. We ensure that the compensation packages
provided to our employees are aligned with their performance and
experience. Our employment contracts include various benefits
such as compensatory leave, overtime allowance, discretionary
bonuses, mandatory provident fund or pension security, social
insurance, rewards for long-term service, and an annual salary
review. These measures enable the Group to attract and retain
talented individuals.

Throughout the recruitment and promotion process, candidates’
qualifications and work experiences are evaluated, and all
workers and candidates are treated equally. The Group has
established a series of internal employment policies with reference
to anti-discrimination ordinances and the guidance under the
Employment Ordinance, Laws of Hong Kong, the Labor Law and
Labor Contract Law of the PRC, as well as industry features and
practices to ensure that our employees are treated fairly, and their
employment, remuneration, and promotion are not affected by
their social identities such as age, gender, marital status, family
status.

To support the human resources function, a comprehensive
Staff Handbook was developed, which includes instructions on
recruiting and promotion, remuneration and dismissal, working
hours, rest intervals, appraisal, training, and other perks. The
Group has periodically reviewed its associated policies to
ensure that it is in compliance with the most recent statutory
requirements. Employees are motivated by annual performance
appraisals, promotions, wage increases, and discretionary
bonuses. As a reward for their commitment, our demolition works
division provides a long service award to employees who have
been with the company for more than ten years.

We take staff opinion seriously. All employees are welcome to
make comments and suggestions through various communication
channels such as letters, emails, or by communicating with
their direct supervisors, department heads, or our human
resources function. We make sure to keep the detail of such
communications and the identity of the employee confidential, and
to address any grievances of the employee as appropriate as we
can.
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Staff Composition

The Group’s principal businesses are prefabricated construction
and demolition works which requires plenty of physical labour.
Traditionally male employees comprise a majority of our
workforce, which does not mean we prefer hiring male employees
to female employees. We are firmly committed to gender equality,
and particularly encourages female participation in the Board, and
at managerial and operational levels.

As at 31 December 2023, we employed a total of 96 full-time staff
and no casual staff, including back-office and site staff. All of our
staff members are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.

ET4AM

AEBZIBEFHERABRRLITHT
B2 RREAERNFFHIIF RN
ETERUBEMERT BUABKRERME
EREABEMEEEMIFL RS - HFRE
R TS CHERYMESREFTEY
REEREBEEENI(Fe

N TEC=F+"RA=+—H RMHES
LERET RWEERT > SFRHIFIK
THMET -HFIFFAETHIMUNEBRFE-

Employees by Gender Employees by Employment Category
BERB SRS REFENESNES
74
o []

A 22

Senior Middle

Entry Leve
Management = Management . o
BREEE opEEg | oAl
Employees
ity 13 16 67
Employees by Region Employees by Age Group
e HHES BERANSSHNES
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Employee turnover rate
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By Gender iR E o
Male B
Female i

By Age Group ¥R AR 5
18-30 years old 18 305%
31-40 years old 31E40%%
41-50 years old 41E508%
51-60 years old 51F605%
Over 60 years old 60 A
By Geographical Region M E S 5
Hong Kong 58

The PRC F

24% 27%
9% 28%
0% 100%

36% 39%

35% 15%
8% 13%
5% 6%

27% 30%
7% 26%

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning
compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Recognising that the construction industry is one of those
industries with a higher risk in terms of occupational health
and safety (“OHS”), we put safety first and are committed to
maintaining a workplace that is safe for our people. To ensure
that all employees are equipped with adequate knowledge in
protecting themselves from occupational hazards, the Group has
provided training for all levels of employees.

TR E AR > A BB R 2 AR eI RE S e B
K BIEREA  TERE KR TF
HE - S0 REARUREMA) m R B8R A
M ERRRERINEM-

BREZE

HFIRA RRERHERERZ S ((HE
BEREZZR) RAEERSHITEZ— B
RZEERBA TRNINA/EEEFZE
W IFHFT - REFREERESHAGRER
CREBELCENTENH  ZEESER
RERMHE-
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Except for construction-related operations, the Group’s operations
did not have any high-risk OHS areas for its employees
throughout the reporting period. We are committed to ensuring
that all construction projects are carried out in compliance with
best OHS procedures. Specifically, all personnel who work on
construction sites are equipped with protection equipment such
as safety helmets, safety shoes, and high visibility apparel. Staff
receive relevant OHS training, such as safety induction training,
toolbox talks, specific training for high-risk activities, and periodic
emergency contingency drills to increase employee awareness
of workplace hazards, to ensure they are competent to carry
out their OHS responsibilities and obligations and respond to
emergencies.

We recruit professionally certified OHS personnel to oversee the
management of safety risks and issues in our operations. Safety
procedures are designed to adjust to varying site conditions
and activity risks, ensuring a safe working environment for all
employees and project participants. Our safety officers would
routinely study and update applicable safety laws and regulations.
Site inspections are also conducted on a regular basis to assess
risk, and safety inspectors will identify any material safety hazards,
offer remedial actions, and monitor the implementation of safety
recommendations. Our on-site foremen and supervisors must
cooperate with our safety officials to guarantee that all health
concerns are swiftly addressed.

To keep the Group abreast of the latest OHS best practices and/
or updated in-laws and regulations relevant to OHS, one of our
subsidiaries had registered as a Green Cross Group member
under the Occupation Safety and Health Council (“OSHC”) in
Hong Kong. This allows the Group to access the OSHC's library
to obtain the latest information and participate in workshops to
facilitate experience sharing and gain deeper insights into the
implementation of OHS best practices. The Group has continued
to optimise its work practices and daily management for the
sake of its staff’s health and safety with the aim to create a safe,
healthy and comfortable working environment. To this end, our
operations fully comply with applicable laws and regulations such
as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance, Factories and Industrial Undertakings
Ordinance, Laws of Hong Kong, and Work Safety Law of the
PRC.
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Due to the nature of the construction industry, the risk of work
injuries cannot be completely eliminated. For the Reporting
Period, the work injury statistics for the Group were as follows:

Work Injury Statistics
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HREBETENEE  THERREETEH
BReIRIRERIA  ZEB THEAHEROT

T B4t

Number of work-related R TERE & case(s) ff
fatalities ML T =G

Rate of work-related fatalites Xl T {ERE 1% percentage

M TRIEEER ksl

Number of reported accidents ¥R&E M= INEE case(s) ff
(sick leave > 3 days) (B> 3K)

Lost days due to work injury R T84 day(s) H

TITEH#

0 0 0
0% 0% 0%
3 4 3
539 341 397

In addition to providing adequate protective equipment and
implementing site safety measures, the Group introduced
new plant and equipment to further enhance site safety
and productivity, such as camera drone which enhance the
effectiveness of site safety supervision. For the Reporting Period,
the Group was not aware of any cases of non-compliance with
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
in relation to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

The Group has introduced a number of measures to safeguard
the health of our employees and to enable them to carry on with
their daily work with a healthy and positive state of mind. Virus
prevention facilities and equipment, for example, non-contact
forehead thermometers were set up in offices and construction
sites, while individual health packs were distributed to show our
care for the welfare of our employees.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We acknowledge that our construction workers face a higher
risk of injuries compared to our office staff. To effectively reduce
the likelihood of work-related accidents, our site foremen, site
supervisors, and safety officers regularly conduct work safety
briefings for all site workers. These briefings occur periodically and
as necessary. In the event of accidents, we thoroughly investigate
the causes and provide recommendations or training sessions to
our workers to prevent similar incidents from happening again.
Our commitment to proactive safety measures ensures the well-
being of our construction workforce.

The Group recognises the importance of skilled and professionally
trained employees to its business growth and future success.
Including but not limited to training in construction industry
safety, safety production, gas welding, demolition work,
machine operations and other knowledge and skills related to
the construction industry, which provide equal opportunity for
all staff to develop their knowledge through a blend of learning
methods including mentoring, coaching, on-the-job training,
courses, conferences and seminars. Employees’ self-development
is encouraged through the taking up of training programmes
and seminars. We also arranged for senior staff to guide junior
so that employees can complement each other and pass on
valuable experience, establishing a talent hierarchy for the future
development of the Group.

The Group also recognizes the value of conducting performance
evaluations with employees. Annual performance appraisals are
held between management and staff to ensure ongoing progress.
Employees can communicate with their superiors and obtain
professional guidance about their career development progress.
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Employee training is a high priority for the Group. Specific B ILiEF|AREBNEHLIEE R ETRE
AINAEERIT -

information on staff training is as follows:

Average training
hours completed

Average training
hours completed

in 2023 in 2022
ZEZ=FRR
MEEaRE R TIEIR R
No. of Hours No. of Hours
FFEL 153
By Gender 4R
Male B4 6.51 3.05
Female M 2.77 1.07
By Category rEER 9
Senior Management SR EIEE 1.77 0.27
Middle Management RAREIEE 15.00 3.41
Entry Level MERET 4.18 2.92

Percentage of
employees being
trained in 2023

Percentage of
employees being
trained in 2022

ZEIEERTE T OHEBR
IEENRE TR HFIRVE TR
Rate Rate
tE=E Eb=
By Gender 4R 5
Male B 86% 88%
Female Z 14% 12%
By Category s8R 85
Senior Management =R EIEE 5% 3%
Middle Management AR EIRE 11% 18%
Entry Level MRET 84% 79%
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LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group highly respects human rights and freedom. We strictly
prohibit the uses of child and forced labour in our workplace
by adhering with the Employment of Children Regulations and
Employment of Young Persons (Industry) Regulations under the
Employment Ordinance, Laws of Hong Kong, Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour, and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Protection of the Minors. Before the Group
may hire a job applicant, comprehensive recruitment procedures
must be followed to confirm and verify his or her age. The
procedures require a job candidate to produce legitimate proof of
identity to confirm that they are of legal working age. Important
information such as job assignments, locations, and working
hours of the staff are also explicitly stated in the employment
contract to protect the interests of both parties, which is always
signed between the Group and the employees. We shall never
accept labor exploitation, forced labor, or child labor.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in relation to preventing child and
forced labour.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We place great emphasis on product quality to protect the
interests of our clients. Vendor management is a crucial part of
our quality control procedures. The Group stringently manage
suppliers and sub-contractors to avoid any inferior materials
acquired and adopt strict quality control over the production and
construction process. The Group has established a long-term
relationship with a variety of suppliers, service providers, material
manufacturers and sub-contractors who share our goals in
responsible management of business ethics, quality, safety, labour,
environmental management that we can integrate and interlink
them to deliver the best quality, timely, responsive, and valuable
construction services to our clients. In daily operations, we work
closely with sub-contractors and communicate our management
requirements and obligations with documented instructions and
guidelines for safety and health management, including report on
work injuries and cooperating with the follow up investigation and
rectification.
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Through the implementation of a robust procurement and
tendering mechanism, we select reliable and competent business
partners from potential organisations in adherence to the principle
of equal opportunity and fair competition.

Specifically, we keep approved lists of suppliers and
subcontractors, and we undertake frequent evaluations every
three months to ensure that our suppliers, subcontractors, and
service providers continue to have the capability and capacity
to supply stable and reliable products and services. The Group
examines and selects subcontractors to offer materials, products,
and services that meet the standards and purchasing needs of
our end clients. The Group’s suppliers are chosen based on the
following criteria: environmental compliance of the items supplied;
material quality; and any background issues with potential
conflicts of interest in supplying goods to the Group.

Looking forward, the Group aims to promote local economic
development and reduce carbon footprint, by prioritising local
suppliers by shortening the distance of transportation. In addition
to geographical factors, we expect our suppliers to meet the
requirements including but not limited to areas such as child or
forced labour, health, and safety, working hours, discrimination
and disciplinary processes.

For the Reporting Period, the number of suppliers by geographical
region of the Group was as follows:

The PRC, 33
P
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group considers customer satisfaction is a key factor to the
success of project management. The Group strives to understand
and integrate customers’ needs into our architectural design and
planning of construction sites management. To meet the demand
of our clients, the Group has developed its internal management
system and closely monitored its project execution process, with
an aim to render premium and reliable service to our clients.

In our prefabricated building industry, we have established
and implemented a quality management system (“QMS”) in
accordance with the internationally acknowledged I1ISO 9001:2015
standard in Hong Kong. This system enables us to comply with
relevant laws, regulations, and contract responsibilities that apply
to our products and services; control quality issues systematically
to improve customer satisfaction; and constantly improve quality
performance in our operations. The Group also gives suitable
training to all levels of employees to increase their understanding
of QMS in their respective responsibilities. For example, the Hong
Kong Quality Assurance Agency has certified our Ready Mixed
Concrete design, manufacture, and delivery as a Quality Scheme
for the manufacture and delivery of Concrete (“QSPSC”).

For the Reporting Period, we received no complaints or claims
from our customers arising from the quality issues of the work
performed either by us or our sub-contractors, which in the
view of Directors, is attributable to the effective quality control
measures.

In our ordinary course of business, we would hardly have access
to confidential information of our clients. However, we attach great
attention to the protection of privacy and intellectual property. In
compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Laws of
Hong Kong, we ensure that all the collected business data from
our clients will be treated as strictly confidential and properly
dealt with by our staff. Our clients’ data can only be accessed
by designated personnel to prevent information leakage to
unauthorised persons or parties.
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On respecting intellectual property (“IP”) rights, employees should
also refrain from having unlicensed computer software on their
computers at the workplace. The Group complies with applicable
laws and regulations relevant to IP right to protect the interest
of the Group and our clients. We also request our suppliers to
comply with such laws and regulations.

In terms of fair advertising, the Group requires its sales
department personnel to offer clients with accurate and true
information about the Group’s products and services. To provide
better before and after-sale services, a hotline and e-mail are also
available for clients to inquire about service information.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters related to products and
services provided.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

In all of our commercial dealings, we uphold the principles of
justice and integrity, and we do not accept any form of corruption,
bribery, money laundering, or other fraudulent activity. The Group
strictly adhere to relevant regulations and laws, such as the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance, Laws of Hong Kong, and
the Criminal Law of the PRC.

To facilitate the identification of suspected cases of corruption,
money laundering and other misconducts, the Group has
developed a whistle-blowing policy as stated in our staff
handbook. Employees are prohibited from accepting or offering
any advantages, including but not limited to rewards, gifts,
fees, loans, services, from or to any clients, suppliers or person
having a business relationship with the Group. Employees who
notice any abnormalities are free to disclose them to the Group’s
audit committee or senior management, and we will keep the
whistleblower’s identity private. A thorough investigation into the
reported incident will be carried out, and necessary action will be
taken in response to the findings.
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The tendering process is vital to our business and all tendering
documents are kept confidential and restricted to concerned
parties only. It must be done in a fair manner in order to protect
the interest of the Group and our clients. Employees responsible
for tendering must comply with the Competition Ordinance,
Laws of Hong Kong, refraining themselves exchanging or
communicating any sensitive information with competitors,
participating in price-fixing, imposing restrictions on clients, and
abusing the dominant market position.

During the Reporting Period, we took proactive measures to
promote a culture of integrity and prevent any forms of corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering among our
employees. To achieve this, we provided our employees with a
comprehensive set of corruption prevention guides and training
resources developed by The Corruption Prevention Department
of the Independent Commission Against Corruption. These
resources were disseminated through internet emails with the goal
of enhancing our employee’s understanding of anti-corruption
laws and fostering a commitment to upholding a high standard of
integrity.

For the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in relation to bribery, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering.

GIVING BACK TO THE COMMUNITY

Our strategic development includes a strong focus on
incorporating social participation and contribution to support
the community. We firmly believe that this approach will foster a
healthy corporate culture and encourage good practices within
our Group. Our commitment to “Building a Green World” and
promoting the principles of “green building and green life” remains
unwavering. With a continued emphasis on quality, innovation,
and effectiveness, we aim to achieve our business expansion
goals.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR

REAERRMANEBSERER FrARIE
XHHERE  EREMALTER - RRKEA
NPET UFREAERRERNNm -85
BRENESREBTERER GRFFEA) - T
BEBFHFIHRAAEAHRER 2
HEEREB - HEFEMEGSIRERTHE
EC NN

PR EHAA » FPIREVR B IS HR IR & 5L (5 X
16> BRE T HEFEMTEANES FER &Y
SFER N IREFROR R TR o Bl ZRMMET
RE—EHRBILBNH LESERTINEZE
PhEfESI RIEIER ZFEREBEHE
BIE B BNAERESEIHREEMN
SO R IR BRI S IR ZEBYEIS ©

FREBRERN > AEBEBSANEERER LR
B R W RARBEARANTEERE
T EBEO RIRBIE M

[EEEtt &

RPN EREROEERAILE2EK
B XFHE -RMRELEEREMNE
FEBANZERRNEEXTCRERIERN
B -HMH RGO R MEE a2
R GeEE RAUNAEIESIE -BEY
mE BT AR AR ER I B PIEEEIR
FrERER-



In April 2008, the Environmental Protection Department of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
launched the Cleaner Production Partnership Programme in
collaboration with the Economic and Information Commission
of Guangdong Province to encourage and facilitate Hong Kong-
owned factories in Hong Kong and Guangdong to adopt cleaner
production technologies and practices, thereby contributing to
improving the environment. One of our subsidiaries, Huizhou
Precast Building Materials Co. Ltd., has extended its continuous
partnership in the programme for years. The Group will continue
efforts to make a positive contribution to a cleaner environment by
reducing emissions.

In an effort to support the growth of the construction sector
and ensure the safety of aged, ill-equipped buildings, the Group
donated a total of HK$22,500 to the Registered Specialist Trade
Contractors Federation, Hong Kong Lo Pan Kwong Yuet Tong,
and Man Yue Club.

As for promoting social well-being, the Group also made a total of
CN¥14,000 to Huizhou Chude Charity Foundation, as well primary
school in Huichou,. Such contributions reflect our commitment to
supporting and uplifting the community that we operate at, with a
specific focus on the betterment of education and the welfare of
individuals in need. We strive to continue making a positive impact
on society through such initiatives.

The Group is committed to staying updated on the latest trends
and best practices in environmental protection at construction
sites, as well as ensuring the health and safety of workers.
We also strongly encourage our employees to actively engage
in community and voluntary work, contributing to the well-
being of local communities and providing assistance to those in
need. Additionally, we have strengthened our relationships and
established consistent communication channels with community
members in the areas where we operate, aiming to promote a
spirit of care and service.
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PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY

Air Emissions

BE R AR

REMERE

Nitrogen Oxide (NOx)
Sulphur Oxide (SOx)
Particulate Matter (PM)

AEEYIINOY
R EH(SOy)

FERIY(PM)

kg T3 508.82 556.46
kg T5 0.69 0.71
kg T3 45.17 50.10

GHG Emissions

Unit (CO2
equivalent)

Efu
(CEERES)

BEEBFMR I TREERER (BEE1)

GHG emissions from mobile and
stationary combustion sources
(CO2 equivalent emissions)

T Eh K [E T MG R AR E RUAR
BE (ZE e E 28

RERREIEHERK (BEE12)

Electricity purchased from
power companies

RENAEIBENE

Hth R EHERK (BEE3)
Paper waste disposed at landfills
BEEIMHIHEBAER
Electricity used for processing
fresh water and sewage by
government department
BT ERFIE R E N RIE R KRS K
Business air travel
A ZE R TT

Direct emission or removals from sources (Scope 1)

Carbon Dioxide (COz)

—F1EHR(CO2)
Methane (CHa)

B J5E(CHa)

Nitrous oxide (N20)
AEZEA(N0)

Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)

Carbon Dioxide (COz)

—E{EHR(CO)

Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)

Carbon Dioxide (COz)
—F1EHR(CO2)
Carbon Dioxide (COz)

—E{EHR(CO)
Carbon Dioxide (COz)
—F1EHR(CO2)

tonne 128.60 114.60
i} 121.05 107.23
kg

T

tonne 5.18 5.00
ur

tonne 134.50 136.40
ur

tonne 4.35 1.41
U]
kg 1,941.84 39.73

T
kg 549.00 0.00
T
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Resources Consumption

BiRHFE

Electricity Consumption EE=E kWh 253,871.60 252,013.83
TE&
kWh/employee 2,644.50 2,571.57
FERE
(==
Water Consumption BKkE m3 3,012 2,953
IFHAK
m?3/employee 31.38 30.22
(==

Non-hazardous Waste Produced

mEBYNEE
Construction waste Y tonne 2,170.32 1,656.41
145
Construction waste intensity BEBEYEE tonne/ 1.61 1.71
work order
mg,
T{EETE
Paper waste BE4R tonne 0.91 0.29
145
Paper waste intensity EREE tonne/employee 0.0095 0.0030
W EE
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Total Workforce
No. of People
in 2023

BTHRH

—_——

AE

By Gender
Male
Female

By Age Group
18-30 years old
31-40 years old
41-50 years old
51-60 years old
Over 60 years old

By Geographical Region
Hong Kong
The PRC

By Employee Category
Senior Management
Middle Management
Entry Level

bz qeFlE sy
Bt
g3

BEEARR RS
18Z305%
31E405%
41ZE505%
51ZE605%
60mE A £

B @RS
&5
I

RESENE D
SHREEE
RiREEE
MERET

74
22

22
26
26
19

66
30

13
16
67

Total Workforce
No. of People
in 2022
BTHH

31
26
23
16

62
36

13
11
74
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By Gender gk FailE |bay
Male B
Female eg

By Age Group e R E b
18-30 years old 18E305%
31-40 years old 31E408%
41-50 years old 41E505%
51-60 years old 51F605%
Over 60 years old 60R% A £
By Geographical Region it & 8 5o
Hong Kong 58

The PRC F
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Employment Turnover

Employment Turnover

in 2023 in 2022
—E=HFREERKER T _FREERKBERN
No. of Turnover No. of Turnover
People Rate People Rate
A MR A TR
18 24% 21 27%
2 9% 6 28%
0 0% 7 100%
8 36% 12 39%
9 35% 4 15%
2 8% 3 13%
1 5% 1 6%
18 27% 16 30%
2 7% 11 26%

Work Injury Statistics

T84t
Number of work-related AT {ER R
fatalities MmIETHEH
Rate of work-related fatalites R T {ERS %
MIET AL
Number of reported accidents ¥R&HIEIN LB
(sick leave > 3 days) (B> 3K)
Days lost due to work injury R T 15485
TIEH#

case(s) 1 0 0 0

percentage 0% 0% 0%
Bt

case(s) 14 3 4 3
day(s) H 539 341 397
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Average training
hours completed

Average training
hours completed

in 2023 in 2022
No. of Hours No. of Hours
THEEK THBETK
1R BRF 8 b= [1:53:¢
INRFEL ANSE
By Gender 4R
Male B 6.51 3.05
Female pegis 2.77 1.07
By Category a5
Senior Management SR EIERE 1.77 0.27
Middle Management RiREIEE 15.00 3.41
Entry Level HERE T 4.18 2.92

Percentage of
employees being
trained in 2023

Percentage of
employees being
trained in 2022

Rate Rate
—T== -
ZilEE ZilEE
BotE Bt
o b 4 EE=
By Gender ¥R &5
Male B4 86% 88%
Female 7 14% 12%
By Category B o
Senior Management SREERE 5% 3%
Middle Management RAREIRE 11% 18%
Entry Level MERE T 84% 79%
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Number of Suppliers by

Geographical Region M ER| S RHEREE

Hong Kong 58 88 86

The PRC H 33 25

Europe B 0 2

us EH 1 0
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND RIE-HEKRERABRSI

GOVERNANCE CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, ZAIRETHIREEEH SR ZFIBEATES
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix C2 _EmM#REIMIERC2M TRIZ - HE N EBREIE
to the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock SlI#E&H  FRIFMIES IS T EEHEIE FAH
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The following table provides [EmEMI—A&IH 5B & FAHREBIEIE (TRAREN
and overview of the general disclosures and key performance 154Z1) > WESFHREEEEER B2 ZH
indicators (‘KPIs”) of various aspects under each subject area, 12HEBEINRAF

which are either cross-referenced to the relevant chapters of the

Report or supplementing the Report with additional information.

Description Reference Remark
Fii 2% £

Aspect A1: EMISSIONS
BEA1 : HER

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and Protecting the
(b) compliance with relevant laws and Environment
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

—RRINEE BRBERMRERBIR  BKRIHMAEE RERE
SNREREEREVNELESFN (@QBR
RO)ETFTHETABERZENBRERR
RBIBIE R o
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B HEREA

Description
st

Aspect A1: EMISSIO
BEA1 : B
KPI A1.1

ff SR 45 SIS 1EA.1
KPI A1.2

RS AE RIS IRAL.2

KPI A1.3

RASREMISIZA13

KPI A1.4

BRI IEIRA14

KPI A1.5

R AR RIS TRA1.5
KPI A1.6

BAREMISIZA1.6

74  GLORY FLAME HOLDI

R

NS

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

PSR AR BRI B o

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

AERRBAERE U8 &k (ER) &
E WUSEMESE BERIMTE) ©
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

FRELASERYEE CURSE) Kk (NE
) ZE MMUSEMNES BEKFH) o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

FREEEEERYHEE CURSE) &k (NE
) ZE MMUSEMNES BEKXFH) o

Description of measures to mitigate emissions
and results achieved.

U RN E RN R PTS R R
Description of how hazardous and non-

hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.

HIERIEA ENEERERYN G A REE
T ENREHKRFTFRR

NGS LIMITED FEZEIRERAT

Reference
2%

Emissions

HER

Emissions

HER

N/A

B3

Waste
Management

R ERE

Waste
Management

B EE

Waste
Management

BEYEE

We do not generate
hazardous waste in
our operations.

FPEEEPILRE
EEEBEEY-



Description
it

Aspect A2: USE OF RESOURCES

[BEA2 : BRfER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources,

—ARIREE

KPI A2.1

B AR A5 1RA2.1

KPI A2.2

FAREMIEIEA2.2

KPI A2.3

FSREIE1ZEA2.3
KPI A2.4

FASREMIE1EA2.4

KPI A2.5

B R AAIE1RA2.5

including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BMERER (BIEETR KR EMEMED
BIER ©

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in
’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

RENEDHNERKLREZER WE R
s BBFEE UTETRESSE KBE
USBUES SERME

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

BREABREE LS BIER SERE
EE

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.

AR 58 PR R i 5T B KR PRIS AR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

M SR BB A 7KOR L I A ERIfE R » LUk IR
FRKMm st 8 R PISRR
Total packaging material used for finished

products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

P A EEMEEE CIRETE) k(0 ~EA

BR) SBEEEGSE-

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R LB RERKRS

Reference
=L

Use of Resources

BEREM

Use of Resources

BEREM

Use of Resources

BEREM

Use of Resources

BRfEA

Use of Resources The Group
encounters no issue
in sourcing water that

is fit for purpose.

& E S SREE A K
B ERBEAEE-

We do not generate
packaging material
waste in our
operations.

HFIEEEPLARE
EEREEMFLE
o

BIREMA

N/A
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IRIE ~ B KER

Description
st

w5

Aspect A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
BEAS : IRIERRXAER

General Disclosure

—RRiRE
KPI A3.1
RS AE R HE 1RAS

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.

ﬁf&ﬁ*ﬁ)\“ﬂa%&?&ﬁéFfLEZEk%’E
AYEER

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

BB EHHIRERRAERNEATE
RERNEESHRENITE -

Aspect A4: CLIMATE CHANGE

[BEA4 : RIZE1E

General Disclosure

—RRINER

GLORY FLAME HOLDI

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact the

Group, and the actions taken to manage them.

A REHEE RSN AERELERE
Eﬁ%k%ﬂlﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’]ﬂl » DUR BRER B 8
HFEI

NGS LIMITED FEZEIRERAT

Reference

2%

Environment and
Natural Resources

RIERKXAER
Environment and

Natural Resources

RIBERRAEIR

Climate Change

RIREAE
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Description Reference
it 2

Aspect B1: EMPLOYMENT
BB : EfE

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) Employment and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations  Labour Practices
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promaotion, working hour,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, other benefits and welfare.

—RRiR R BRI LR e BEREA  TERFE B EBERFIER
i FTERE S0t RERUREMFFE
RAENB (@R ; kbETHETABEKR
FENERERRROIBNER -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender employment type,  Employment and
age group and geographical region. Labour Practices -
Staff Composition

RREMIEEB1.1 MR BEEE  FRAENRMESI DR BERSIER

S 4EE o —B T4
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group  Employment and
and geographical region. Labour Practices —
Staff Turnover
FARAENIEREB1.2 ZUF FRAFRMES DHNEERKLLE EEKSIER
ZEe —BImK
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Description Reference
st 2%

Aspect B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY
BHEB2 : BEETZD

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) Health and Safety
compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employee from
occupational hazards.

—RRINER ERRHEZE2THREREREERRHE RERRZE
MEER (@BER ; ROETHEHTABEKR
FEERERRROIBNER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
RABENISIEB21 EILERAGEMETHABKEER RERAZE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
RSRENIEEB22 EIGEAIFRER- RBEREZE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety  Health and Safety

measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.

RRENIEIRB2.3 HHMPIRMH B RREZ 2 URE RBREREEZ2
BATRERT &

78 GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED ZHEZERARATE
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Aspect B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

[EmEB3 : % & KkiZl

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge

—ARIREE

KPI B3.1

R B4R X5 15B3.1

KPI B3.2

R A 1517B3.2

and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description for training activities.

EREAERERIT LIRS B KEN
B3R o A IE ) SEE 0
The percentage of employees trained by

gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

ERREEER WEhEEE PRER
%) 8oz IlfEEE Dtto

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
R REEERE D BLEETHAZ
FNRRS]iSE O

Aspect B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

[BEB4 : T #H|

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b)

—RRIEE

KPI B4.1

B A 517841

KPI B4.2

BRI AANI51EB4.2

compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRABIEE T 55RHI% TH (@R ; K&(b)E
THETABEAZ BB AR LR
Bt o

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

H A ST R ES 1B 5 RO 48 HE LRk % 28 T R 98l
ST o

Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.

BT B IRE R IB R H IR A BB TP B EX
BRI ER o

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ (18 &k

Reference
2%

Development and
Training

R RIE

Development and
Training

ERE R IE
Development and

Training
R R

Labour Standards

& T2

LLabour Standards

T A8

Labour Standards

& T#A
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Description Reference
st 2%

Aspect B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
[EmEBS : HEEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain

risks of the supply chain. Management

— R EE BEMEENIRE R G RARER HpEREIE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.  Supply Chain
Management

RASEAENISIEBS.1 B o HERmEE - HEEREIE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain
suppliers, number of suppliers where the Management

practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.

RRENIEIRBS.2 AR AHEENIES  RITARES HEREE
MHEBHE URARBEANRTRER

Fike
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain
environmental and social risks along and Management

supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

RRANIEIEB5.3 M ARHAN HEENRERA ST RARNIE HEREE
B LIRBRARITRER T 7%

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain
environmentally preferable products and Management
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

RREXNIERB5.4 HHATRERERERFEESHARFERKRER HEREEE
BRVIER) » LU IT RER A

80 GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EAEZERBIRAT
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Reference
=L

Description
it

Aspect B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
[BEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b)
compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods
of redress.

Product
Responsibility

— AR IR ER BRI ERTRBHNREEZE - BES EmER
RERNEEEURERGEN [(QBER ; &
OETHEITABEATZENERER AR
BBk o

KPI B6.1 Percentage to total products sold or shipped ~ N/A There were no recalls
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. concerning the KPL.

FISEAEXNISIEB6.1 CDENEREXERABTRL2EREEIEDR ~EBEA I A AR R E XS
MBI E 2 e RAVEI W E A o

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related N/A There were no
complaints received how they are dealt with. validated complaints

received during the
Reporting Period.

FRAENIEEB6.2 FERNERMRBHKRFMEURERS TBEA PR ECIRREAR - I

VA o BREERACERE
B

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing  Product
and protecting intellectual property rights. Responsibility

RASRAENIEIEB6.3  HH it Bl A B Ko RPE R 8 EE 1 A RARVIE 1] EmEE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and ~ N/A Recall procedures
recall procedures. are not relevant to

our operations.

FARAENIEREB64 HWHESRTBRERERLCIWER- B [El A2 7 RIS

EmA

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and  Product
privacy policies, how they are implemented and Responsibility
monitored.

FARAENIEEB6.5 HWIMUHBEEBMRERMRER  UKEHE EniE
HITRERG %
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Description Reference
st 2%

Aspect B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

[BmEB7 : R&5

General Disclosure Information on (a) the policies: and (b) Anti-Corruption
compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that they have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

—RRIRER BRI LR~ $1R HGFRIERER (@ RES
R ROETHETABEAZENERE
BRALNEK

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-Corruption

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees for the Reporting Period and the
outcome of the cases.

RREMIERBT.1 NERSHAEETANHEESRUIESE RES
BTSRRI IVE B RaFAMER o

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Anti-Corruption
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

RREXNIERB7.2 HAMHE RSB RERF URERRTR RES

BERFEe

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided Anti-Corruption
to directors and staff.

FRENIEIREB7.3 HNEERETRHENRESE- R&E=5

82 GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EAEZERBEIRAT

There were no
concluded legal
cases brought
against the Group.

T A E E R H
BEGIF AR o
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Description Reference
it 2

Aspect B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
[EEBS : HtERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to Giving Back to
understand the needs of the communities the Community
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

—RRIREE BNt ARBEREESEMTHERREEN LEtE
BAREERIHEERLEHHENBER-
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Giving Back to

environmental concerns, labour needs, health, the Community
culture, sport).

MENIEEBs.1 FTIEREE MHS REFE - HFIE OEULE
K BERXIEBBE) °

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to  Giving Back to
the focus area. the Community

RENIEEB8.2 TEIHEBFAEBAER UIRHERE) [EEEHtE
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the Reporting
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in provision of concrete demolition
services and manufacturing and trading of prefabricated
construction components.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a
business review and an indication of likely future developments
in the businesses of the Group, can be found in the Chairman’s
statement and Management Discussion and Analysis as set out in
this annual report. These discussions form part of this directors’
report.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES, PERFORMANCE
AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Details of Environmental Policies, performance and compliance
with laws and regulations are set out in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognizes that employees, customers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of
the Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship
with its employees and business partners and improving the
quality of services to the customers.

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The Group ensures all staff is reasonably
remunerated and regular training courses are provided for its
workers on different types of skills and knowledge for their specific
jobs in the workplace as well as work safety. The Group strives to
motivate its employees with a clear career path and opportunities
for advancement and improvement of their skills.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED ZARiERRAIRAT
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The Group also stays connected with its customers and suppliers
and has ongoing communication with the customers and
suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic
mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and
suggestions.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in this annual report.

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend to
shareholders of the Company for the Reporting Period.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

As the forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 7 June
2024 (Friday), the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 4 June 2024 (Tuesday) to 7 June 2024 (Friday) (both
days inclusive) for the said AGM or any adjournment thereof. All
transfer of the Company’s shares together with relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office no later than 4:30 p.m. on 3 June
2024 (Monday) in order to qualify for the right to attend and vote
at the AGM (or any adjournment thereof). The share registrar and
transfer office is at:

Address: Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
Room 2103B, 21/F
148 Electric Road, North Point
Hong Kong

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
five financial years are set out in this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2023 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 31 December
2023 was 1,010,605,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital and the share premium
of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note
26 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the
Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Group. The
remunerations of the Directors are determined with reference to
the economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities
and duties assumed by each Director as well as their individual
performance.

RESERVES

Details of the reserve of the Group are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company has no
reserves available for distribution, as calculated under the
provision of section 79B of the Companies Ordinance, and in
accordance with the Companies Law Cap. 22 of Cayman Islands,
inclusive of share premium, share-based payment reserve, special
reserve and retained earnings/accumulated losses.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED ZARiERRAIRAT
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company (the
“Scheme”) which was adopted on 2 August 2014 (the “Date of
Adoption”) are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. The Scheme will remain in force
for a period of ten years commencing on the Date of Adoption
and shall expire at the close of business on the business day
immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless
terminated earlier by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best
available personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees
(full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents customers, business
partners and services providers of the Group and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time),
Director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, supplier,
agent, customer, business partner or services provider of the
Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares of the
Company as it may determine in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of
any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to time
on the basis of his contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the number of outstanding
share options under the Scheme is 6,200,000 options,
representing 0.61% of the total issued Shares. During the
Reporting Period, none of share options was granted, exercised,
cancelled and lapsed.

The maximum number of entitlement to Shares of each
grantee under the Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of the issued Shares. Any further grant of
options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval
of the Shareholders in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof.

Save as determined by the Board and provided in the offer of the
grant of the relevant options, there is no performance target which
must be achieved before any of the options can be exercised.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to our Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of
the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal
value of a share on the date of grant of the option.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhong Zhiwei
(appointed on 22 March 2024)
Mr. Liu Yingjie
(resigned on 22 March 2024)
Ms. Zhou Jin (resigned on 18 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Cao Hongmin

Mr. Chan Chi Pan

Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter
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The incumbent Directors’ biographical details are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this report.

Information regarding directors’ emoluments is set out in note 13
to the consolidated financial statements.

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the
requirements under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules has been
received from each of the independent non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation. All Directors of the Company
were appointed for a period from one to three years and subject
to retirement from office and re-election at the AGM of the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Each of the executive Directors shall also be entitled to
discretionary bonus to be determined by the Board based on,
among other things, the performance of the individual directors
and the overall financial position of the Group, and is subject
to the recommendation of the remuneration committee of the
Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A. Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporation

As at 31 December 2023, interests or short positions of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company in the shares
(the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which
were required () to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or (i) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or (i) pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

() Long Position in the Shares and underlying
Shares

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or
chief executive nor their associates had any long
position in any Shares and underlying Shares.

(i) Interests in debentures of the Company

Capacity/
Nature of interest

Name of
Chief Executive

FETHASHS

813 #HEtE

Beneficial owner

BEm#EAA

Lai Xiaoliang

S

Note: the fixed rate bonds are freely transferrable and not
convertible to the Shares of the Company
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Fixed rate bond (Note)
BEEFEES B
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Amount of Bonds
held/interest in
FrisH HE#DS
HEHERE
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HK$5,800,000
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(i)  Short Position
As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or the chief executive nor their associates had any
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2023 and
so far as is known to the Directors, no person other than
certain Directors or chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying
shares of the Company which were required to be recorded
in the register of substantial Shareholders maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or indirectly
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any member of the Group.

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature

AR R

&3 HE

Huang Cheng Beneficial owner

Number of Shares
and underlying Shares
held/interested in
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Fr¥sE A ERNRGS BE49
RiafknBE FlgE oLt
188,620,000 18.66%
=101 BHEBA
Zhu Zhou Beneficial owner 129,000,000 12.76%
M BEm#EAA
Zhou Jin Beneficial owner 284,500,000 28.15%
BEmERAA
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 24.0% (2022: approximately 29.1%)
of the total revenue of the Group and the largest customer of the
Group accounted for approximately 7.6% (2022: approximately
8.6%) of the total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules), or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own 5% or more of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 47.1% (2022: approximately 41.8%)
of the total purchases of the Group and the largest supplier of the
Group accounted for approximately 17.9% (2022: approximately
16.7%) of the total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules), or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own 5% or more of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers.

MAJOR SUBCONTRACTORS

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest
subcontractors accounted for approximately 86.0% (2022:
approximately 87.1%) of the total subcontracting of the Group
and the largest subcontractor of the Group accounted for
approximately 28.5% (2022: approximately 27.4%) of the total
purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules), or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own 5% or more of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest subcontractors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding company
or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interests directly or indirectly subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
associates, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements do not fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuity connected transaction”
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and are fully
exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS'
~ REPORT
EEGHS

EFAOER

BRiR & A5 IR M EESOPT IR BRRIRRE 5 2 5
Sh > RIRERIAR NI S AT AR B ER
BARABHAEAMEAR ERATEF
EAMBARAIINA RESNEFEENE
BEAEAmNEAREGH-

BEESHN

PRSI ST L F S AR B2
WERRBDEFHNEEGL -

EFWRBRMEREENER

REBSHANEAER BEEFHRESE
BB R AR MR > PR AR R K
PEEREMERSH m  TMEITEA R
MARE S EERABHEERNB AT N
FRMNBABRMES L EMZEE UEES
ESEmEMZEAERINERER] -

BHEX%

KEBENWERRE
HRARMFEI0

R BEN GRS

N EEM BRI EIONEELRZ L
JF GEM_ERAISE 20818 N2 IR 5715
FERMER S BE#E S GEMLEMRRY
FER TR FEER  AEAIBIURR
HEZRE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #

93



94

DIRECTORS'
REPORT
EFREHRE

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that neither themselves nor their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had held any
position or had interest in any businesses or companies that
were or might be competing with the business of the Group, or
gave rise to any concern regarding conflict of interests during the
Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during
the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions of the Code except for the
deviations from code provisions C.1.8 and F.2.2 of the Code
which is explained in the section headed “Compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code” of the Corporate Governance
Report.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the required standards of dealings set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code
of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in respect
of the shares of the Company (the “Code of Conduct”). Having
made specific enquiries with the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Code of Conduct throughout the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the Reporting
Period. The Company has not taken out for insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The reasons for this decision is elaborated on page 18
of the Corporate Governance Report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information
that is publicly available to the Company, at least 25% of the
Company’s issued share capital were held by the public as at the
date of this report.

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (‘ZHONGHUI") acted as auditor
of the Company and audited the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for each of the financial years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

ZHONGHUI resigned as the auditor of the Group with effective
from 24 November 2023. In accordance with the 2nd Amended
M&A and with the recommendation from the audit committee of
the Company, the Board resolved to appoint AOGB CPA Limited
as the new auditor of the Group to fill the casual vacancy on the
even date following the resignation of ZHONGHUI and to hold
office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of
the Company. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to re-appoint AOGB CPA Limited as the
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhong Zhiwei

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT &/ #Z8EhEk S
AUDITOR’S REPORT

-
AOGB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED
HRERBRAR

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Glory
Flame Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 105
to 195, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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AOGB CPA Limited, Suite 2501-03, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Admiralty, Hong Kong

Tel: 2152-2238, Website: www.aogb.com
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BB 5E: 2152-2238, #Buk: www.aogb.com
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Other receivables (note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements)

As set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recognised impairment loss of approximately
RMB19,100,000 (equivalent to HK$20,937,000) against its
other receivable. The aforesaid other receivable was related to
a prepayment made previously to a supplier in the construction
business.

The Group made a prepayment amounted to RMB26,100,000
(equivalent to HK$28,611,000) to a supplier in respect of a
potential collaboration project in 2019. Due to the change in
economic environmental conditions, the potential collaboration
project was not executed. The Group and the supplier entered
into a supplemental agreement (“Supplemental Agreement”)
on 16 March 2021, which stated that (i) the supplier would
refund RMB7,000,000 to the Group by 26 March 2021 (“1st
Refund”); (i) the supplier would refund another RMB7,000,000
(“2nd Refund”) if the Group is unable to enter into any new
business with the supplier before 31 August 2021; and (i) the
supplier would refund the remaining amount of RMB12,100,000
(“Remaining Refund”) before 14 January 2022 if the Group is
unable to enter into any new business with the supplier before 31
December 2021.

The 1st Refund was received by the Group during March 2021
under the terms as stated in the Supplemental Agreement, while
the 2nd Refund has not been received by the Group as at 31
December 2021. The Group was not able to enter any new
business with the supplier before 31 December 2021 and the
Remaining Refund of RMB12,100,000 has not been received
by the Group by the due date. The Group has fully impaired the
balances of 2nd Refund and the Remaining Refund amounted to
RMB19,100,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Full Impairment”). There was no further business development
between the Group and the supplier and the aforesaid balances
have not been repaid up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Due to the lack of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we were
unable to carry out the audit procedures necessary to obtain
adequate assurance as to whether the Full Impairment should be
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021 or the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Because of the possible effects of this matter on the comparability
of the current year's and the corresponding figures, our audit
opinion on the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is therefore qualified.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which states that the Group incurred loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$9,773,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2023, the
Group had net liabilities of approximately HK$10,769,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matters described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated
in our report.

IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

We identified impairment of trade receivables as a key audit matter
due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant degree of
estimations by management, in estimation of expected future
cash flows of collection of trade receivables which may affect the
carrying value of the Group’s trade receivables.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit loss (“ECL”") which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables as disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements,
the measurement of ECL requires the application of significant
judgements which include forward-looking macroeconomic
factors.
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As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
the carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
are HK$54,904,000 (net of allowance for impairment of
HK$10,090,000) as at 31 December 2023.

Our procedures in relation to assessing impairment of trade
receivables included:

- Obtaining an understanding of how management assesses
the impairment of trade receivables by applying the ECL
model and assessing the appropriateness of the ECL model,
by examining the inputs and assumptions used by the
Group in calculating the ECL;

S Evaluating the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuer appointed by the Group;

- For collectively assessed ECL, we assess the
reasonableness of whether trade receivables have been
grouped based on common credit risk characteristics and
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings; while for individually assessed ECL,
we assess the creditability of the debtor with discretionary
risk exposure by evaluating its past default records and its
past due exposure, on a sample basis;

- Evaluating the appropriateness of expected loss rates
applied by comparing to historical default rates of its
customers and forward-looking information;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of impairment losses made
on trade receivables with reference to the ageing analysis
and history of past settlement records;

- Checking subsequent settlement from the debtors; and

- Performing recalculation based on expected credit loss

rates applied by management to ascertain the accuracy of
impairment losses on trade receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises all the
information in the Company’s annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence about the certain receivable amounts.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance assists the Directors in
discharging their responibitilies for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Chun Shing.

AOGB CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Ho Chun Shing

Hong Kong, 31 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF #x&18mm
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER  / /\@Eﬁ'ﬁiy&]\%
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ #5-F-=F=A=175ees

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023
—E-=fF
Notes HK$’000
iz FET
Revenue WA 7 107,606 118,533
Cost of sales THE A (73,867) (83,142)
Gross profit EH o 33,739 35,391
Other income and other gains, net HA AR E MR P88 8 5,035 8,549
Impairment losses on trade B WA BEEIEFER
receivables, net o s (3,968) (4,612)
Administrative and other operating TEREMESERS
expenses (36,735) (35,939)
Operating (loss)/profit SiE (F518) Ed (1,929) 3,389
Finance costs RRE A 10 (7,113) (6,412)
Loss before income tax BRFf 1515 A B5 48 (9,042) (3,023
Income tax (expenses)/credits FrEm (M) i8R 11 (104) 364
Loss for the year FREE 12 (9,146) (2,659)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ Hthzm (F518) WA -
income:
Items that have been reclassified or EEH D EX R E T EHFEE
may be reclassified subsequently EmZ2IEH
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEEINESEZERER
foreign operations " y (798) (1,456)
Foreign currency translation reserve BEHE M B AR NEE
classified to profit or loss upon Bm 2 JMNE R (1
deregistration of subsidiaries - 522
Total other comprehensive loss FREMEEEIELELE
for the year (798) (934)
Total comprehensive loss FANZEEBIEETE
for the year (9,944) (8,593)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEEER (B518) &F .
attributable to: N
Owners of the Company KN E] EHA (9,773) (10,329)
Non-controlling interests FEEER 31 627 7,670
(9,146) (2,659)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  BEEEANZE (B518) KA
for the year attributable to: 4H%R
Owners of the Company AN E] 3‘?‘% EA (10,426) (10,943)
Non-controlling interests JEEER 482 7,350
(9,944) (3,593)

Loss per share FIREE 15
Basic 25 (0.97) (1.02)
Diluted e (0.97) (1.02)
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CONSOLIDATED #F&BAFHR R
STATEMENT QF #=F==#t=A=t-1
FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2023

2023
==
Notes HK$’000
B 5% FH&T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BERERE 16 11,645 12,863
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 10,683 12,484
Goodwill S 18 938 938
23,266 26,285
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 75 19 1,856 3,162
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEWRIE
and prepayments KFaIE 20 59,007 71,321
Bank and cash balances IR1TRIRBAEER 21 36,153 36,254
97,016 110,737
Current liabilities B =R
Trade and other payables B RAEMENRIE 22 31,333 47,492
Borrowings = 23 46,896 46,928
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 4,562 4,287
Long service payment obligation RERBEEE 29 475 -
Current tax liabilities KEARIEEE 99 20
83,365 98,727
Net current assets REEERE 13,651 12,010
Total assets less current liabilities #AEE R GE&E 36,917 38,295
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Interest payables on borrowings B2 ENFE 22 8,258 =
Borrowings (=R 23 29,250 29,250
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 7,449 9,373
Long service payment obligation EIRBEERT 29 2,227 -
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 25 502 497
47,686 39,120
NET LIABILITIES BEZFE (10,769) (825)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBIRRR

At 31 December 2023

2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FAT
Capital and reserves B K H#E
Share capital %N 26 10,106 10,106
Reserves B (22,281) (11,855)
Equity attributable to owners KABHER ANELER
of the Company (12,175) (1,749)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR = 31 1,406 924
TOTAL DEFICIT 48 (10,769) (825)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 195 were  £105F195B 2 i B BRERELEET T
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on NZE_MAF=F=+—HitEREET
31 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: BEHOWAHTINERLREES .

Zhong Zhiwei Li Kar Fai, Peter
EER FEIE

Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED  f#r&atEmEs)zk
STATEM ENT OF BE_ZE_=—F+_FA=1+—HLEE
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

EATHRE NEE

Foreign
Share-based currency Non- Total
Share Share Merger payment translation Other Accumulated controlling equity/

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-Total interests (deficit)
MNR% ShE i

BE  REE  AHEE FERE  HERE  HtEE  RHEE i JEEREG (B4

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TAn TER TE Thn TAn TER y Thn TER

Balance at 1 January 2022 K- _Z&—A—H

28 10,106 268,053 15,800 2,480 (1,785) (1672)  (284,688) 9,194 (5,795) 3,399

Total comprehensive EREE BB /KA
(loss)/income for the year 4838 - - - - (614) - (10,329) (10,943) 7,350 (3,599)
Deregistration of subsiciaries s MBAR - - - - - - - - (631) (631)

Balance at 31 December R_E-—f
2022 +ZB=+-RZHH 10,106 268,953 15,800 2,480 2,399 (1672 (295017) (1,749 924 (825)

Balance at 1 January 2028 #-E-=&—F—-H

28 10,106 268,953 15,800 2,480 (2,399) (1,672 (295,017) (1,749) 924 (825)
Total comprehensive EREE BB /KA
(loss)/income for the year 4338 = = = = (653) = (9,773) (10,426) 482 (9,944)

Balance at 31 December K_ZEZ=%
2023 +ZB=t+-HzH&H 10,106 268,953 15,800 2,480 (3,052) (1,672 (304,790) (12,175) 1,406 (10,769)
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CONSOLIDATED #r&iREmER
STATEMENT OF HE—E-=fF+-A=+—HILEE
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Cash flows from operating activities

RERFFFZRERE

2023
—m— =

—_——

HK$’000
FTET

Loss before income tax PREF1SH AT RSB (9,042) (3,023)
Adjustments for: THEE
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEKRKZEITE

plant and equipment 4,675 5,369
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESETE 5,474 4,941
Interest income FEUA (373) (7)
Reversal of impairment losses BO B 5 REMEI

on trade receivables I RERIE - 87)
Reversal of other receivables R [CliE s~ Hfh

previously written-off FEW R IB — (5,816)
Written off of trade receivables i85 B 7 rE U R IE 83 23
Written off of trade and other payables  #ifiH & 5 K E {thFE T 7118 (2,328) -
Gain on disposals of property, HEME -BEK

plant and equipment ® M2 W (35) (96)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries BEEN B A B s 2 B8 - 1,224
Impairment losses on trade receivables B 57 FEUNGRIE 2 B {E K518 3,968 4,612
Finance costs FAE A A 7,113 6,412
Operating profit before EEETEHKEEN

working capital changes 9,535 13,552
Change in inventories FEEH) 1,306 (244)
Change in trade and other receivables B 5 B EAth FE U TR IE £ &) 8,263 (24,244)
Change in trade and other payables B REMETRIEE (11,064) 9,989
Change in long service payment obligation RHIR 7 & ST EH) 2,674 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) &R FENFRELE "

operating activities (FrAA) 2IRE3%E 10,714 (947)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENHE&ETF S (656) (660)
Income tax refund EIRFTIER - 42
Net cash generated from/(used in) & EEBNFRESL

operating activities (FrAR) 2BR& 3% 10,058 (1,565)
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CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

T Iﬁix}ui
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property,

REZFPMFZRERE
BEYX -BEKRRB

2023
—m—=

—_—<—

HK$’000
TET

plant and equipment (3,174) (3,575)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEMHE R R&EZTE;

plant and equipment 35 96
Net interest received BUFI 2R 5 373 7
Net cash used in investing activities & ;EEFIAZIREREE (2,766) (3,472)
Cash flows from financing activities RIS ;ZEFFSZIRERE
Repayment of principal portion of BREEaELEID

lease liabilities (5,291) (4,735)
Borrowings raised EEMEW 1,092 11,963
Repayment of borrowings BIEER (1,078) =
Interest paid on borrowings [SENREEIS) (1,394) (2,803)
Net cash (used in)/generated from R4 ;%8 (FRA) FRiES

financing activities ZIREFE (6,671) 4,425
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and REKFEEBFEEM,~

cash equivalents GR2L) 358 621 612)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  JMNEF| &1 E) ~ 52 £ (722) (261)
Cash and cash equivalents FVZRERIREEEY

at the beginning of the year 36,254 37,127
Cash and cash equivalents FRZRERIRNEEEY

at the end of the year 36,153 36,254
Analysis of cash and cash HERREEEBM2 AN

equivalents
Bank and cash balances RITRIRB4E R 36,153 36,254
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NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED

AR RS IR AR MY EE

HE_Z_=F+"_A=1+—HILEE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

GENERAL INFORMATION

Glory Flame Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 April 2014
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO
Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
address of the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong is Suite 821, 8th Floor, Ocean Centre, Habour
City, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately HK$9,773,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, and the Group has net liabilities
of approximately HK$10,769,000 as at 31 December
2023. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Directors have been undertaking a number of plans
and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position, including:

()  the Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projection prepared by management, which covered
a period of not less than twelve months from 31
December 2023. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due and
carry on its business without a significant curtailment
of operations not less than twelve months from
31 December 2023. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis;

—RER

HEZERARAR ((RAR) RZE
—OFENBE-+hHBIREHREFHEAR
BETEHENEAMMIAER S
BERAB cARBENEMMEEAN
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box
1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands c A BRI EH F BB B
MREB ARV IBER B BBIME
FHRILSIE821ZE o AR B RN I B A
BRBAARAE (TH3ZFR) GEM L
o

FRB B —EREZRAT -HIBER
Bz EBEBHI RS M BRERNEE
310
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BIEEEELEARARER ABGLEE
#9,773,0008 0 BAEER "=
F+ZH=+—HZEBEFEAN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATE‘I\{I ENTS

AR TSR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

(i)  the lender of the other loan executed a letter agreed
not to demand for repayment for other loan with
principal of HK$40,000,000 until the Group can meet
all the other financial obligations of the Group and
willing to negotiate with the Group when the terms
mature;

(i) the holder of the bond payables executed a letter
agreed not to demand for repayment for bonds
payables with principal of HK$5,800,000 and the
accrued interest until the Group can meet all the
other financial obligations of the Group and willing to
negotiate with the Group when the terms mature;

(iv)  the lender of the loan from a former director executed
a letter agreed to negotiate with the Group when the
loan term matures; and

(v  the Group shall implement cost-saving measures
to maintain adequate cash flows for the Group’s
operations.

Based on the cash flow projection of the Group and having
taken into account the available financial resources of the
Group and the above measures, the Directors consider that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future, and accordingly, are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES
IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-
Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FlNANClAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES
IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments define
accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items
in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case,
an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy. The
amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. IRANERE] REBIESTEBIFHR

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA ((EEVBIRSED)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES REMEGAFBEESE (B

IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to 3.2 FEREBEtERE1257E

HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments narrow the
scope of the recognition exemption of deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

i) the Group has applied the new accounting
policy retrospectively to leasing transactions that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022;

i) the Group also, as at | January 2022, recognised
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax
liability for all deductible and taxable temporary

AARE-RBEEZEE
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The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance, except that the Group discloses the
related deferred tax assets of HK$2,307,000 and
deferred tax liabilities of HK$2,307,000 at 1 January
2022 on a gross basis in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements but it has no material impact
on the accumulated losses at the earliest period
presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES
IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.3 Impacts on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. IRANERE] REBIESTEBIFHR

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA (TEBHHBHRESEN)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES REMEGAFBEESE (B

IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.4 Change in accounting policy as a result of 34 FAEAEASHMAEME

application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong

As disclosed in note 29, the Group has several
subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which are obliged
to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances.
Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF
contributions to the trustee who administers the assets
held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each
individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an
employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from
employers’ MPF contributions was allowed under the
Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the
Government of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the
use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance
payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will
officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance,
the last month’s salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of
employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in
respect of the employment period before the Transition
Date.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES

IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.4 Change in accounting policy as a result of

application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 20283, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance
for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this,
the Group has implemented the guidance published
by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising
from employer MPF contributions that have been
vested with the employee and which could be used
to offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed
contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account
for the deemed employee contributions as a reduction
of the service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES
IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.4 Change in accounting policy as a result of 34 FAEAEASHMAEME

application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of
the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) -
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong (Continued)

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the
Abolition, these contributions are no longer considered
“linked solely to the employee’s service in that period”
since the mandatory employer MPF contributions
after the Transition Date can still be used to offset
the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would
not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“independent of the number of years of service” and
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS
19 is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service
in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying
paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19. Accordingly, the Group
has recognised a cumulative catch-up adjustment
in profit or loss for the service cost, interest expense
and remeasurement effect from changes in actuarial
assumptions for the year ended 31 December 2023,
with corresponding adjustment to the LSP obligation.
The cumulative catch-up adjustment is calculated as
the difference at the enactment date (16 June 2022)
between the carrying amount of the LSP liability
calculated under paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 before
the Abolition and the carrying amount of the LSP
liability calculated under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19
after the Abolition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. BRI RBIESTE BB

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER) (TEAMERSZEN)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES REMEGABEEE (B

IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impacts of application of changes in other FEREMEABREERIESTH
accounting policies on the consolidated BHRERNOTE

financial statements

The details of the impacts on each financial statement HEFBHRESMATEE MEREEINE
line item and loss per share are set out under “Impacts of EFFHEN T EREMEERE
application of changes in other accounting policies on the EHGREMBRROTZE) !

consolidated financial statements” below:

The effects of the changes in accounting policies as a result FERRBBEUH SRR E ERIRE %
of application of changes in other accounting policies as the HIMENNHEME S BREETHERGIE
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong m R EMEERARREREENTE
on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other wr

comprehensive income and loss per share, are as follows:

2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FAT
Impact on loss for the year HEABIENZE
Increase in cost of sales THEE AR AN (2,074)
Increase in administrative and T E A& B R S 180
other operating expenses (600)
Increase in finance costs R AR AN IE N (28)
(2,702)
Impact on total comprehensive HEANHMZEEIE
loss for the year WEMNRE
Increase in total comprehensive FE(GFF RS IR AR REIG N -
loss for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company —RABHEBA (2,702)
(2,702)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. IRANERE] REBIESTEBIFHR

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HHEA (EBAMBREEN)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES REMEHBEEE (B)

IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impacts of application of changes in other FEREMEABREERESTH
accounting policies on the consolidated BIRRNTZE (B

financial statements (Continued)

Impact on basic loss per share HEREARBGENTE
Basic loss per share before adjustments BEFEREARER (0.70)
Net adjustments arising from change in RS T7)ZIEE AN St EERE
accounting policy in relation to: MAESEEEPEE
— Abolition of the MPF-LSP —BUH a1 & B R AR ¥ P 6l
offsetting mechanism (0.27)
Reported basic loss per share (note 15) ERzESREREE (YsE15) (0.97)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES
IN OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance
Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective, but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and amendments to HKFRSs would have a
material impact on its results of operations and financial

position.

122 GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEiZIRBIREAT

3.

BRG] RAMEST B B TR
HER (TEEMBRSER))
REMEHREE (B)

BEMERKRERZEIETER
MRS 2R
FAEENEEFEA T EEMERER

ERRHHET RGBT EBYHREE
A

ERRHREEL REFEHKE
FIEREEGER ABHEER
FBIEEET A AZEZEE

HEALE'

BRRHREER ERMANZES
EALHACEIR &E

ERGHENSIRETE NERRARDY

BELTEINN
BEREES
KCES
) ZHmE
5]
ERGHENSIRETE  WHZENFR
Hak

BRGHERETRR HEEHME 2R
BEBRBREER
FIHET &

BEG LR E215 HZ AR
CHEN

T RTEASRRZRRANEERRE

£

2 RIB_ME-A-BHZEMEHA

NEEHB LR

© RIB-EF-—B—BRTEBES
B 2E R HIRE AR 2K o

FEBRBEFHEEEMERREMRD
M REESTEBMBRERRZF
& BRBEREZSMIREETE
AUV BREENRSGHNHEEERKR
MR REEERT &



4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

4.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation to the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the
directors to exercise its judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The material accounting policy information applied
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below.
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AR R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—H+"A=-+—HIEE

4= A H

MEMBRREREEREKX
B ERER

4.1

REMBRREREE

GG BRERDREBEEBG S
FAEBEMmIE B R EZER
B BURBIGR A BRERMS
HEMBENKCSETENEREE
ERPFHIVRE  RIBRAEREK
BB/ERUIN FEMFREE
S FTGEMEE 75 L R A R &
BREFPIREZ BRAKESSE-

FREGMBRERIDRIBELMAE
BRIMRE - RR S BRRTI LB
7o (7)) 250

MRTEEAMBHRSERNLG
GMBRRBEEAETHRR
BREE - ENRREEEERA
DT BERBAZ PR H T P Rt
M B S BB R R B S
MHBBRRBEABRKREENS®E
B> TRy EESHR KRR ©

RAEAGREMBRERFFERAZE
RESTHERERESIT -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #

123



124
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FINANCIAL STATE‘I\{I ENTS

AR TSR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it has power over the entity,
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties, to determine whether it has
control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

4.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
HNANCMLSWHEMENTS

AR TSR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company'’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment
losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as
stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss
and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment
testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

()  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

(iy  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATE‘I\{I ENTS

AR TSR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

- Plant and machinery 1 25%
- Furniture and fixtures : 20%
:10% - 25%
: 20% - 50%
: 20% - 33%

- Motor vehicles
- Decoration
- Office equipment

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Buildings
- Offices 1 5% — 100%
- Warehouses 1 33% — 50%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term less than 12
months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATE‘I\{I ENTS

AR TSR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in-first-out and
weighted average method. The cost of finished goods
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under financial
assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables and
bank and cash balances) are classified under this category if
they satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATE‘I\{I ENTS

AR TSR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that financial
instrument (‘lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade
receivables, or if the credit risk on that financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at
an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit
losses that represents the expected credit losses that result
from default events on that financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities
and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference to
the customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The period between the
transfer of promised products and services to the customers
and payments by customers usually is within 1 year, as a
result, there is no significant financing component which
requires adjustment of the transaction prices for the time
value of money.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Employee benefits

()  Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(i)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Long service payment obligation

The liabilities for long service payments are measured
as the present value of expected future payments to
be made in respect of services provided by employees
up to the end of the reporting period using the
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of
employee departures and periods of service. Expected
future payments are discounted to their present value
using market yields at the end of the reporting period
of high-quality government bonds with terms and
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.

Remeasurements as a result of experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors are
measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

138 GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED ZHEIZERAERATE

MEMBRREREEREKX
EEBERER (8

I
PRISIERNERIR IR FARSEAR TR RV 4B 2R

BUERFE (S IR IR I A F E FEER IR s A 5t
B o ERNE A R R ST AR A
EffR RREETSEEMERER
FEERM B TR A AR E » 77
BEERATINRIER - AEEERH
B EN B ERANRSIHRAES
TREREETHRKAR-

EEMRIAFL I FFERE AN E E R S 1ERVER
EEEF BRGNP AREREA
ZEWERRT SR EEREE R —
AR TP A FEERIR & B R SD > MR
MIE ER| ST TRIAERIER P A
IR E R =58 REAIREEE
SARBBIRIEIR R R IR o (1 & S =58
DHEEERP SRR —BERTREE
KRBT AR EEHaF RS (F
BEHFEIN FNEMEERERME
£ AT ERIDEREERER-

EERIRS BRI B ABIREMES
AYPEERIN T B = 50 T DARESE M A &
B REH G R ARV R BB RE
BAR] BET BN F) R SR EBEEIF BRI o



BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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4. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

B)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(i)

(viil

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and other intangible
assets except goodwill (see the accounting policy above),
inventories and receivables to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non- occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when material.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. This involves critical judgements.
Details are explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@ Provision of ECL on trade and other receivables

Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The provision of ECL requires the use of
significant judgement and estimates including forward-
looking macroeconomic factors. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying amounts of the trade
and other receivables and impairment losses for the
year in which such estimate has been changed. If the
financial conditions of the debtors were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual
values of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets of similar nature and functions. The Group
will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assests are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the present value of
estimated future cash flows. Where the future cash
flows are less than expected or there are unfavourable
events and facts and change in circumstance which
result in revision of future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_E_=

F+A=t+—HLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group principally operates its businesses in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange fluctuations from various currencies, such
as United States dollars and Chinese Renminbi.
Since Hong Kong dollars remains pegged to the
United States dollars within a defined range, the
Group is not exposed to any significant foreign
exchange risk against the United States dollars. The
Group has certain subsidiaries operating in mainland
China, in which most of their transactions, including
revenue, expenses and other financing activities,
are denominated in Chinese Renminbi. The Group
is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
transaction risk in relation to these currencies and had
not entered into any foreign exchange contract as
hedging measures against these currencies.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances
and trade and other receivables included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to the Group’s financial assets.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event that counterparties fail to perform their
obligations at the end of the reporting period in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amounts of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
and other receivables. In order to minimise credit risk,
the Directors review the recoverable amount of each
individual receivable regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
receivable. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following information is used:

internal credit rating;

- external credit rating (if available);

- actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

S significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower; and

- significant changes in the expected performance

and behaviour of the borrower, including changes

in the payment status of borrowers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Z'i"/_\
N7 ==

I F5 R AR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—Z—

=F+"B=+—HLFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due. The
Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL
model for receivables over 90 days past due based on
the good repayment records for those customers with
continuous partial settlement and/or good credit rating
of the counterparties.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
Where loans or receivables have been written off, the
Group, if practicable and economical, continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover
the receivable due.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHEZ_=F+_B=t—HIEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HBEAMEIRE (@&
(Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERKE (@&

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on certain
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

The ECL on trade receivables are assessed individually
for customers with discretionary risk exposure and/
or collectively for the remaining customers with
common risk characteristics using a provision matrix
based on aging of outstanding balances. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group provided
approximately HK$4,238,000 (2022: HK$864,000)
and reversed approximately HK$298,000 (2022: Nil)
loss allowance on ECL based on individually assessed
customers and provided approximately HK$3,442,000
(2022: HK$3,748,000) and reversed approximately
HK$3,414,000 (2022: HK$64,000) loss allowance on
ECL based on the provision matrix.

A EE L8 5 YR IR 2 81
TRRREEE1R - TRAME B 1RRYET
BILVENHR BNBIEX FIE
HIEREERIRE) REXN R
B B R RBHEIRRTHIR
15 FE St BB K A R ME B RHETT AT
it - TREAE BB BN AT R RER
BE R R INAEBARE » HLTHRIR N
AR ERMEE - AEEKL
ERBEEERRERRERRE
R R A RIT R E S A
ETEBSRRFIENTRREER
B WIZERHBEZ MRS
BIRIEISBYRIBE L ERHEL R -

HMMANBRRAENEFE
AR/ AE HE R RS-
BRTITERFEAENHAERER
ZERENBEEREEERTGE
SEWFIETERE BB - N &
EE__F+"A=+—HIL
FE> AEBRREBEERNFENE
ErtEfA s EEaHREG IR G
#94,238,0008 7T (ZE - " F:
864,000 7T) K LIRS IEEEL
208,000 70 (ZT - — & #) » J)
RIFEEEREMNTEREEEE
IR BRI 493,442,0008 7T (T
T T 1 3,748,000/87T) KOS
BREE#93,414,00008 7T (T2 -
£ 1 64,000587T) °
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Individual customers with discretionary risk exposure
are assessed individually for the credit risk based on
their probability of default and exposure of default.
The remaining customers are assessed collectively by
using provision matrix based on historical credit loss
experience adjusted by forward-looking estimates. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by the management of
the Group to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated. Forward-looking information is
used by the management of the Group to assess
both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of the categories.
In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward-looking data.

6.

MBERBREE (@

(b)

Category Definition

85! &

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay
B4 EXNRRK RREEI5R

Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk

REH EEREEEEN

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR
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NEMREENPIESNERERM
SRAXEEBSTWEBMMERE
ME (ZAEHER R E EN B IRF
KITIR) 2 BIRERAEE

REERIEE Z EUGRIA D 2370
8 URMREER Z EE AR KRE
BREEELI -StERAEEE
BRE AEEEERERZESE
ESIRLEE  BRiATRE M BURIFL R

o

Loss provision
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12-month expected losses
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Lifetime expected losses
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it

maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities
is as follow:

Carrying
amounts

WREfE
HK§'000
TEn

At 31 December 2023 RZB-=F+-R=+-H

undiscounted
cash flow or on demand
FERRE
mERE
HK$'000

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

MBERERE (&)

(c) FENEER

AEEZHRBEMRERBRTKR
TRHAIREBESRE  LUEREMER
RHRE A BAHEERARE
HznsEeFE2 AEETHE
B2 EEIE RO -

rEESHERZ BB RDMN
L

Total
Between 2
and 5 years

Between 1
and 2 years

Within 1 year

15R3,
BEX
HK$'000
TER

2EF5E
HK$'000
Fhr

15526
HK$'000
FAT

TERL

Trade and other payables BB REMERTIA 32,751 32,751 24,493 8,258 -

Borrowings & 76,146 83,538 50,642 32,896 -
108,897 116,289 75,135 41,154 -

At 31 December 2022 RZ2-”#+ZR=1+-H

Trade and other payables  ZRRHMERTIE 37,611 37,611 37,611 = =

Borrowings & 76,178 85,995 50,174 = 35,821
113,789 123,606 87,785 = 35,821

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
on its fixed interest-rate borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on its bank
balances because these balances carrying interest at
prevailing rates.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy in relation to fair value interest rate
and cash flow interest rate risk. The Directors monitor
the Group’s exposure on an ongoing basis and will
consider hedging the interest rate should the need
arises.

(d) FI=EE

AEBEGEBEFREREER
FEMNXER - AR AEBEIRTT
EERRIRITRRE R A BT
ZEBFAZREREN AR

AEERS L REAEHATE
AERBERENEAR 2RI
PR B RE R AR E
B T3 E RERE

%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(d) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Directors consider that the Group’s exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk is low as the financial
impact arising from the changes of market interest
rate is insignificant, therefore, no sensitivity analysis
presented.

(e) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31
December

MBERERE (&)

(d) FIRERE (&)

EERBR AR HNREEFE
FZMBREIR WAEEFTE
Rz RERENXERRE ALt
I 2 SR E DA

(e) 2FE
RiFEM BRI R EEEH

ZEMEEREHEREZREE
BREREBZATERE

n MW+-B=+—HzZzEmIT
$8 51

2023
=
HK$’000
FHET
Financial assets: ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEEM AT EZ
(including cash and cash equivalents) “®MEE (BFERESK
BEEEY) 93,998 103,584
Financial liabilities: THMEE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEHER AT EZ
(excluding lease liabilities) THas
T eEEEa®) 108,897 113,789
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

REVENUE 7. WA
The Group’s revenue is analysed as follows: REFBZWADTUT :
2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FHET
Provision of concrete demolition RMERTIFE R EETRE
and construction engineering services AR5 68,036 69,377
Manufacturing and trading of BEKREBERERANTERNER
prefabricated precast construction A 39,570 49,156
107,606 118,533
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: EREHWADE
2022
—E== T F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
Timing of revenue recognition WA B SR B
At a point in time H—ERERY 39,570 49,156
Over time M= R R RS 68,036 69,377
107,606 118,533
(a) Provision of concrete demolition and (a) IERRTIFENRERTRE

construction engineering services

The Group provides construction service to the
customers. When the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligations of a
construction contract can be measured reasonably,
revenue from the contract and the contract costs
are recognised using the percentage of completion
method.

R %5
rEEOZFRERZERS B2
REGHNBRNETTHERR
BEFER SR AKRGHIRAE
TSERT T B AR
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7. REVENUE (Continued)

(@) Provision of concrete demolition and
construction engineering services
(Continued)

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations of a construction contract
cannot be measured reasonably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred that is
expected to be recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group
according to the payment schedules as stipulated in
the contracts. If the service rendered by the Group
exceeds the payments, a contract asset is recognised.
If the payments exceed the service rendered, a
contract liability is recognised.

The contract price is allocated to the performance
obligations based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices of the performance obligations. The stand-alone
selling prices are determined by applying the expected
cost plus a margin approach.

(b) Manufacturing and trading of
prefabricated precast construction

Revenue is recognised when control of the products
has transferred, being when the products are delivered
to the customer, the customer has full discretion over
the products, and there is no more unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customers’ acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs when the products have
been shipped to the location as agreed on the sales
contract and are handed over to customer. The risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
customers when either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

A receivable is recognised when the products
are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Revenue is measured at the amount receivable under
the sales contract.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR

7.

WA (&)

(a)

(b)
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8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e p el N

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

8. Hthit AR H iz F5E

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FHET FET
Reversal of impairment # [0 & 5 WA
losses on trade receivables Z BEEE - 87
Reversal of other receivables B [CliB s~ Hfh
previously written-off FEWFRIE (@) - 5,816
Written off of trade receivables  #fi# & 5 FE Ux 18 (83) (23)
Written off of trade and 38 B 5 K H A FES 7B
other payables 2,328 -
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain FER (E518) /Wi 348 (114) 16
Gain on disposals of property, HEYE -BERZEZ
plant and equipment Wz 35 96
Loss on deregistration of BEE M B A B s 2 B5 18
subsidiaries - (1,224)
Recovery from compensation A EFRR AT BE
insurer 471 -
Government subsidies BmiE (o) 859 1,899
Bank interest income RITHF] B WA 188 7
Other interest income HhF SUA 185 -
Others H1th (a) 1,166 1,875
5,035 8,549

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #

155



156

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—Z—

8. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET 8.

=F+"B=+—HLFE

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, other receivables
of RMB5,000,000 from a customer was fully impaired and
the Group entered into the legal process during the same
year ended. Approximately RMB5,385,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,264,000) (including (i) Repayment
of other receivable of RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,816,000) and (ii) retainer fee of
approximately RMB385,000 equivalent to approximately
HK$448,000) was received during the year ended 31
December 2022. Hence, the Group reversed the written-
off on trade and other receivables during the year ended 31
December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised government grants of approximately
HK$1,397,600 which was related to the Employment Support
Scheme. The remaining subsidies during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023 were granted to the Group by the
government authority. No condition has been applied on such
government subsidies from the government authority.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR

HtWg AR H fth ik a5 88 (48)

MI5E -

(@

HE_ZE-NAE+B=+—0H1
FE FE—HELNEMBKRRIE
AR #5,000,0007t BB R E 7
FOREFAEAZERF - BHES
T TE+ZA=+—HIEEE B
% AR #5,385,00070 (FBE &
6,264,000/ 70) (BIE()EEHEME
W =h1E A B #85,000,0007t (FBE R4
5,816,000 7T) K(iIEBEIARLE
385,0007¢ (1B E R 49448,000787T) ©
At ZREERSEE_S-__F+=
B=+—HIEFE#DBEMHENE
2R EAMMER RIS

HE_E_—_F+B=+—H81t
FE AEERIERRMETS
BB/ BN 491,397,600 T B E
TE T TFERE=F+"H
=t+—HIEFE > FErNmEIERK
[ B P95 T 2 2 ] o BT &6 P9k f ik
ZEBT RS 5T (A5 o



SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has one (2022: one) reportable segments as
follows:

Construction

(i) Provision of concrete demolition and construction
engineering services and (i) manufacturing and trading of
prefabricated precast construction

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as those described in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. Segment profits or
losses do not include interest revenue, income tax expenses
and other unallocated corporate income and expenses.
Segment assets do not include bank and cash balances
and other unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities
do not include borrowings, current tax liabilities, deferred tax
liabilities and other unallocated corporate liabilities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEEF (B
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets BRI ERDHER - BEREEZE
and liabilities: BT

Year ended 31 December 2023:

Revenue from external customers

Segment profit

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment losses on trade receivables, net
Additions to segment non-current assets

At 31 December 2023:
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

Construction
EFe

HKS$'000
FHET

BE_ZT_=F+"A=+—H

IEEFE:

REIINER ZIWA 107,606
3 B F) 1,647
M- BEREZEITE 4,652
FTREBSEINE 4,751
B RRTE Y BERE$EE 3,968
REDEIERIEE 6,731
RZE_=F+=-H=+—8":

DEEE 82,109
oan= =K 38,071

Year ended 31 December 2022:

Construction
e

HK$'000
TET

BE_T__F+“-“H=+—H

Revenue from external customers
Segment profit

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Additions to segment non-current assets
At 31 December 2022:

Segment assets
Segment liabilities

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Impairment losses on trade receivables, net

LEFE:

REIMNBER ZUWA 118,533
pan= il 4,555
M- BEREREITE 4,887
FREESEINE 4,217
BRI BERE 35 4,525
REDEIERIEE 12,055
WZE-_-HF+=-“HA=+—H8:

DEEE 98,465
DEEE 48,369
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9.

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss, assets
and liabilities:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
trE MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

DEER (8)
PI2RALIER BERLEHIK

2022
—E-= BT F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Profit or loss: E5 -
Total profit of reportable segment A E2RDEEF4BER 1,647 4,555
Corporate and unallocated loss NEV R ADBCRIE (10,689) (7,578)
Loss before income tax FRPTISMRBIRSIE (9,042) (3,023)
Assets: BE
Total assets of reportable segment AE2FmRDEEELE 82,109 98,465
Bank and cash balances IR1T RIS AL ER 36,153 36,254
Corporate and unallocated assets NEVRAEDEE 2,020 2,303
Total assets EEMEE 120,282 137,022
Liabilities: afE:
Total liabilities of reportable segment B2} D WEBERLE 38,071 48,369
Borrowings (=R 76,146 76,178
Deferred tax liabilities FIEFIBEE S 502 497
Corporate and unallocated liabilities UNCINE o o =N 16,332 12,803
Total liabilities SREHEES 131,051 137,847
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information:

DEER (8)
B ER :

2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FHT
Revenue: WA :
Hong Kong 5H 68,036 69,377
The People’s Republic of China hEARENE
(the “PRC’) (TP E) 39,570 49,156
107,606 118,533

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based
on the locations of the customers.

MERMEEERTES  WATEER
MUEZS]e

2023

—E=HF

HK$’000

FET

Non-current assets: ERENEE .

Hong Kong 5E 13,459 14,349
The PRC == 9,807 11,936
23,266 26,285

No revenue from transactions with a single external
customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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10. FINANCE COSTS

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDITS)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

10. BEEFpR 2

2023
===

HK$’000

FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEE 656 660
Interest on other loan HihEHF B 2,700 2,700
Interest on loan from a former director FKE—RPIEEZERHE 2,925 2,253
Interest on bond payables B ESF B 696 696
Interest on bank borrowings IRITERHE 45 103

Total interest expense on financial liabilities JE3Z /A FE 5+ A
not at fair value through profit or loss B EE

ZH BRI EEE 7,022 6,412
Interest on discounted bills receivable e EIERARIRF] B 63 =
Interest cost on LSP EiRSH B 28 -
7,113 6,412

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax

FHEAFR BB B

SR

1. FiIfeMFAzZ (5%)

2023
—no=

— ——

HK$’000
FHET

Provision for current year REFELEE 99 =

Over-provision in prior years BETEBREER - (470)
Current tax — The PRC HERFRIE—A

Over-provision in prior years BETFEBREER - (22)

929 (492)

Deferred tax (note 25) EIEFRIE (FI5E25) 5 128

Income tax expenses/(credits) FrigiiBEsz~ (IE%) 104 (364)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%)
based on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
the year ended 31 December 2022 as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

EBEMNERNRIBEAFEE LSRR EF]
W E16.5% (CE - " 1 16.5%) 1F
HEF AR EEE_S__F+_H4
—+—HIEFE - AERWETEEEAE
SR AERREN At EREET
T T+ _HA=+—HILFEEHE
BFEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES/(CREDITS) 11. FREREAS (8%R) (@)
(Continued)
Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been HMBER 2 BN 2 NIERZ B
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in REFREHEMAERKR ZIRITMER MK
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, BIRTTZABRAAD 2B IBHIETE o

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax expenses/ FRiSMMEY (K %) HPRPTSHATESIE
(credits) and loss before income tax is as follows: ZHERWT
2023
—EI=H
HK$’000
FHET
Loss before income tax FRPTISMBIRS1E (9,042) (3,023)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBMERE
rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) 16.5%5t &
(CB=—%F :16.5%) (1,492) (499)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEMRMIMAZRBEE (387) (1,318)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible RO 2R E 720 1,004
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised EN Ry R SF = bl
MG E 1,448 1,148
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B ABERKZ
previously not recognised MIEES18 Zmi‘g%%ﬁ (1,292) (165)
Tax effect of temporary differences RETERMEEREY
not recognised M F 2 1,494 (101)
Tax concession MBEE (490) (467)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M]‘J% UNCIENEILESrd -7 103 526
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBREEE - (492)
Income tax expenses/(credits) FRSMEE (E%R) 104 (364)
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/
(crediting) the following:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e p el N

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_B_-F+_A=+—HLFE

12. FAREE

REBFRBELIR, GA) &

TREHIER

2023 2022
—g_= .-
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Cost of inventories sold/services provided HEGFE R HERISA A 73,867 83,142
Depreciation of property, M= -BERKREITE
plant and equipment 4,675 5,369
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESERE 5,474 4,941
Reversal of impairment losses on trade ~ $%[0] &8 5 FE R FUIE
receivables Z BB = 87)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries Gl N YNCIE S SEi - 1,224
Gain on disposals of property, HEME - BERKREZ
plant and equipment Wz (35) (96)
Impairment losses on trade receivables & 5 FEWFUIE Z BI{EE1E 3,968 4,612
Staff costs (including directors’ ETHA (BEES
remuneration — note 13) A — BYEE13)
Salaries, bonus and allowances o~ TEAL R AL 38,296 39,848
Retirement benefits scheme RIRE 5T EIMHRR
contributions 1,438 1,194
Past service cost BERRFE A 2,331 -
42,065 41,042
Expenses related to short-term leases FHATE EAERER 751 546
Auditor’s remuneration — audit services 1% BiEM T BN —28 51 AR TS 500 700
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in e TR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EERALEEHFMAL

INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS
(a) BE-—T-=&+-F=+—8
IFFEREEFHMETINOT

(a) The remuneration of each director for the year ended
31 December 2023 is set out below:

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits ~ Share-based scheme

in kind payment contributions Total

AN Nz pEd ¥
g REMEN  EROAR sl A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Zhong Zhiwei (appointed on EEELE
22 March 2024 (R-Z_mE=R

“+ZBEZM - - - - =
Mr. Liu Yingjie (resigned on 22 March 2024)  BIEALE

(R-_F-—m&E=

BZ+ZHED - 94 - - 94
Ms. Zhou Jin (resigned on 18 July 2023) Zhou Jin L

(RZZZ=%F

tA+A\HE#D) - 329 - - 329

Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BT HHTEE

Mr. Cao Hongmin EHRAAE 120 - 120
Mr. Chan Chi Pan BEREE 120 - 120
Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter FERRLE 120 - 120

360 423 783
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
trE MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

13. EEXRABREHMAL (@)

(a) 82" "F+=-F=+—H
IFFEREEFHMEIINT -

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind

Ha R

Fee

Share-based
payment

MR

Retirement
benefits
scheme

contributions Total

ik
HKS'

TERT

REYER
HK$'000
TERT

BRI
HK$'000
TET

StEIHR
HK$'000
TET

85t
HK$'000
TERT

000

Executive Directors BiTEE

Mr. Liu Yingjie BERTE - - - - -

Ms. Zhou Jin Zhou Jin &% - 600 - - 600

Independent Non-executive Directors B E#iTEE

Mr. Cao Hongmin EHREE 120 - - - 120

Mr. Chan Chi Pan TR & 120 - - - 120

Mr. Li Kar Fai, Peter TEELE 120 - - - 120
360 600 - - 960

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil). Neither
the chief executive nor any of the directors has waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BHE_ZE_=—F+"HB=+—H
IEFE  AEBUBREEESM
AR E > ERAMARERIN
NEARF VRS EABERAEE (C
T E BEE =
+ZR=+—HILFE BETE
THRAEREAEEREXRER
BEREEAME CEZ2F

L
$HE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. EFRA%EEHFMAL @)
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EHEEREFMAL
No director has been included as the five highest rEBFAN LA R HMALF

TEEEECETF | oF
A W A T #E B F2,500,001

paid individuals in the Group during the year (2022:
Nil). The emoluments of each of the individuals, two

individuals falling within the band of HK$2,500,001 to
HK$3,000,000, one individual falling within the band
of HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 and the other two
individuals falling within the band of HK$500,001 to
HK$1,000,000 (2022: the emoluments of each of the
individuals, two individuals falling within the band of
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 and the other three
individuals falling within the band of HK$500,001 to
HK$1,000,000), for the year, are set out below:

Salaries, allowances and

T 23,000,000 7T — & A TEH
B 7Y 1,000,001 75 = 1,500,000
BAREMREATHFMNNAFE
500,001 75 % 1,000,0007 7T (Z
T F  MBEALTEFHMAF
2,500,001 75 Z2£3,000,00058 75 K
Hh =% A L& J500,001 7%
7cZE1,000,000870) Z FHBNNT -

2023
—m— =

— ——

HK$’000
TERT

e R R BYETN

2022

—

HK$’000
TET

benefits in kind 7,908 7,775
Retirement benefits scheme BRIREHFHEIHRR
contributions 90 72
7,998 7,847
Save as disclosed above, for the years ended 31 frEaIFEEIN BE_ S _=F

December 2023 and 2022, no other emoluments
had been paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the

rRZEZ"HF+"A=+—AHL

FE FEEHREQDLYLR

S

AT EMBEERIMALRE

Group. BN AR EEZRIVEE) -
14. DIVIDEND 14. &2
The Board of Directors does not recommend payment of EFES EEMEBEE_S =+
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: B=+—HIEFERZERPRE CF
Nil). “THF o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RS IR R MYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—H+"A=-+—HIEE

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BREE
Basic loss per share BREAREE
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners KABEE ANELEREREBIEEAR
of the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable NEVEE ANEILFERNEIEA9,773,000
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$9,773,000 Bt (CTE T THF | E5384710,329,000
(2022: loss of approximately HK$10,329,000) and BT RN AFEEETE @R 2R
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of EH801,010,605,00008 (ZE -
1,010,605,000 (2022: 1,010,605,000) in issue during the 1,010,605,0000%) 515 °
year.
Diluted loss per share SREEEsE
The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive for BE_ZE_-_FRZZEZ"F+ZAH
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. —t+—HIEFENMEBETEEZER

ZHEBREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

An e AT IR AR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BECT_=F+-A=t+—HIEEFE

16. )% BB Kk

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and Furniture Motor Office
machinery  and fixtures vehicles  Decoration  equipment Total
BEREE GRREE A ®ii  WAERE H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TERT TER TEn TER
Cost A
At 1 January 2022 RZE-__#-F-H 64,582 1,811 10,347 6,793 5,810 89,348
Additions RE 2,538 - 2,192 10 121 4,861
Disposal HE - - (1,688) - - (1,688)
Deregistration of subsidiaries BB AR - - - = (4,974) (4,974
Exchange differences ERER (854) - (46) (107) 30 (977)
At 31 December 2022 and RIBZZE+ZB=1+-HK
1 January 2023 _E_=F-F—H 66,266 1,811 10,805 6,701 987 86,570
Additions AE 1,069 213 784 1,336 168 3,630
Disposal e (10,231) - (459) - - (10,690)
Exchange differences EREE (290) - (21) (35) ) (352)
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=#+"A=+-H 56,814 2,084 11,109 8,002 1,149 79,158
Accumulated depreciation ~ BiE
At 1 January 2022 . — ey = R =| 53,209 1,704 10,144 5,244 4,736 75,037
Charge for the year FERZE 4,067 30 323 346 613 5,369
Disposal HE - - (1,688) - - (1,688)
Deregistration of subsidiaries BB AR - - - - (4,668) (4,668)
Exchange differences ERER (329) - (23) 48) 57 (343)
At 31 December 2022 and RIZZZE+ZA=+-HK
1 January 2023 “E-=F-fA-H 56,937 1,734 8,756 5,542 738 73,707
Charge for the year FRTH 3,252 57 i M5 174 4,675
Disposal HE (10,231) - (459) - - (10,690)
Exchange differences ERER (144) - (1) (19) (5) (179)
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=-%+ZA=1-H 49,814 1,791 9,063 5,938 907 67,513
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZA=1+-H 7,000 293 2,046 2,064 242 11,645
At 31 December 2022 RZB-__&#+”-A=+-H 9,329 7 2,049 1,159 249 12,863
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e p el N

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRHESE
Disclosures of lease-related items: THERREEZIFE !
2023 2022
—E_=F =

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHIT FBT

At 31 December: W+=ZB=+—H8:

Buildings 18

— Offices S N 6,393 7,598
— Warehouses -BE=E 4,290 4,886
10,683 12,484

Year ended 31 December: B#E+—-_A=+—8

IEEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREE EITEER
Buildings -

— Offices -BRE 2,523 2,228
— Warehouses -BE 2,951 2,713
5,474 4,941
Additions to right-of-use assets NETHAEEE 3,824 7,194
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML 4E%E 5,947 5,395
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17. FEEEE (@)
The Group leases various buildings. Lease agreements are AEBHEETIEF -HEHZ—RE
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 20 years. Lease EAH1E20F - HEBRRTHIREE R
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain HEFTE B3B8 REGRR Bt
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease MEHZL EEIE A% BRES
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased ETSREEEIRR

assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

18. GOODWILL 18. BE&
HK$'000
FET
Cost 3%
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RZEZZFE—H—H-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 2 HF+"HA=1+—A-
hg=c __E B—Bk
B+ ZRA=+—H 938
Accumulated impairment losses BitREsE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, RWZE2-__F#—H—H-
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 B2 F+"H=+—H"

“ET=F—-A—A8k
—EC=F+ZA=+—H -

Carrying amount BREE

At 31 December 2023 RZIE_=F+"HA=+—H 938
At 31 December 2022 KRB _F+_"F=+—H 938
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at FEERTaRNZEREHNIRE
acquisition, to the cash generating units (‘CGUs”) that are EHET ((REEHET) HEZZ
expected to benefit from that business combination. The —N\F+ZB=1+—HILLFE B5EH0
carrying amount of goodwill arose from the acquisition of REELELEBRESMNERERESRE
HINESIHEEEMEBRAST during the year ended 31 MEBRAR HEDREREERD
December 2018 and had been allocated to construction &l o
segment.
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGUs
operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for
the next five years. All set of cash flows beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated using a zero growth rate (2022
growth rate: 5%). This growth rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the
Group’s manufacturing and trading of prefabricated precast
construction components is 18% (2022: 18%).

19. INVENTORIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e p el N

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

18. BE (1B)

REEN BT RIREISERBEER
MR REAFEZEREERTE
MIRREREZNETBRRAHEMIR
KB RRDRANFEREEN K RIRA
ERE - AEEERRAAREFERIR
o ZHRRRER HIHE S EEREE
ENFERSERNREELETNR
BB REANREEHETESGES
PRIEMIE & A REIFIOEE IR R
REEMBRBARNBEBUE RS
MR

FEEERBRRAFEF G BB
MHEREIRENRERETRA - BBRR
FHRZFIAREREBRTIERRER
BHCEIZFBREK 15%) o 5—
BEREIBBERTENTHERAER

rERNEREEERNTARERMA
HHTEARSREIEEXA18% (CTF
T 18%) o

19. 78

2023 2022

=== BT 4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHIT

Raw materials and consumables B B EFE MR 962 1,417
Finished goods RUAY G 894 1,745
1,856 3,162
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in e TR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. EZREMEBUKRIERTEDR

PREPAYMENTS 15
2023
—E=HF
HK$’000
FHT
Trade receivables B 5 WIS 64,994 70,573
Less: allowance for impairment of B B REIGERIE
trade receivables B R (10,090) (6,342)
Trade receivables, net B 5 WIS R 58 54,904 64,231
Retention receivables {REBEFIA 1,212 1,987
Less: allowance for impairment of B REBEWERIE
retention receivables BB ©) ©)
Retention receivables, net {REB U TIE FEE 1,203 1,978
Prepayments TE{I IR 5,547 8,503
Less: allowance for impairment of B TR RIBR(E RS
prepayments (4,385) (4,512)
Prepayments, net TR R IEF4E 1,162 3,991
Deposits and other receivables e K LA FE U aha 22,675 22 668
Less: allowance for impairment of B EREREMEREIE
deposits and other receivables RERE (20,937) (21,547)
Deposits and other receivables, net (note) &% K EL{FE U F0IEH 28
(Pt 1,738 1,121
59,007 71,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
trE MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHEZ_=F+_B=t—HIEE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. EZ RHEMEWRIARTEMDR
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) 15 (48)

s BE_TZ_=F+"A=+—H"

Note: Included in the deposits and other receivables of

approximately gross amount of RMB19,100,000 (equivalent
to HK$20,937,000) (2022: HK$21,547,000) as at 31
December 2023 was related to a prepayment made
previously to a supplier in the construction business.

The Group made a prepayment amounted to
RMB26,100,000 (equivalent to HK$28,611,000) to a supplier
in respect of a potential collaboration project in 2019. Due
to the change in economic environmental conditions, the
potential collaboration project was not executed. The Group
and the supplier entered into a supplemental agreement
(“Supplemental Agreement’) on 16 March 2021, which
stated that (i) the supplier would refund RMB7,000,000 to
the Group by 26 March 2021 (“1st Refund”); (i) the supplier
would refund another RMB7,000,000 (“2nd Refund”) if
the Group is unable to enter into any new business with
the supplier before 31 August 2021; and (i) the supplier
would refund the remaining amount of RMB12,100,000
(“Remaining Refund”) before 14 January 2022 if the Group
is unable to enter into any new business with the supplier
before 31 December 2021.

The 1st Refund was received by the Group during March
2021 under the terms as stated in the Supplemental
Agreement, while the 2nd Refund has not been received
by the Group as at 31 December 2021. The Group was
not able to enter any new business with the supplier
before 31 December 2021 and the Remaining Refund of
RMB12,100,000 has not been received by the Group by
the due date. The Group has fully impaired the balances
of 2nd Refund and the Remaining Refund amounted to
RMB19,100,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021.
There was no further business development between the
Group and the supplier and the aforesaid balances have not
been repaid up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements.

KA HEEE A AR 19,100,0007T (18
E1420,937,000/87T) (ZEZZHF:
21,547,000/ 70) M & K H A FEUR
MIE B A S — R EREHERR
EMTESRIEE R o

ATE—NEXEEHK —EE
H1EEEE— %h%%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ
TIE A RH26,100,0007T (FHE R
%6ﬂ0%%ﬁh$%@%%ﬁﬁ
B EBEESIEEERENT K
$$l&&%ﬁn_7:—¢fﬁ
+NBelamntnE (k) -
Emﬁwwﬁﬁﬁh&_v_—ﬁ—
B+ HAEREBDHEBEARE
7,000,0007c FAEE ((F—E D
EBR) e AERELIN T —
ENB=+—Ha A HEFERT
AMES HERABEEREARKE
7,000,0007t (TSBE = &R F
KEH ; RifHAEBREEIZN T
T+ -HA=+—Hei A HES
ERTEHRER HEERENR -
T —BTOHARERTEEE
AR #12,100,00070 (TR4&EBR) F
ANER -

REBRZZEZ—F=BREBR
BRI IERR B S —E I DR
mBEE_E-_—F+B=+—8"
RNEEHARUEIE ZEZLDIER A
EBRR_E—F+=ZB=+—H
Z IR B SR FE B E A TN
Bk BEEIHHHERWEIRLE
?ETA)\EWﬁ2 100,0007cc AEEE
HE LMD ERRMRELBRANE
BETTRBEAE HEZS T —F
+-A=+—HILEE  ZEHE:
et A ANR®19,100,0007T ° E A
REMBRRIED > AEBEAG
FEmzERBE—FPHNERERE L
MMEREETN R EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in e TR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. B REMEBKRIERTEMDR
PREPAYMENTS (Continued) 15 (%49)

FEBRTEFNEEH—&RA308

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 days to its

trade customers. The following is ageing analysis of trade
receivables, net, based on invoice date:

RIRETZ B HINE 5 B IE P 3RRVER

BT

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TET

0-30 days 0-30H 25,896 27,742
31-60 days 31-60H 4,974 6,659
61-90 days 61-90H 3,801 7,106
91-365 days 91-365H 17,496 13,250
Over 365 days BiE 365H 2,737 9,474
54,904 64,231

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

B 5 R R R mAHER

2023 2022

ZEZ=H B

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHET

At the beginning of the year F4 6,342 2,002
Increase in loss allowance for the year FRNEAEBEHEEN 7,680 4,612
Written off for the year F e (62) (4)
Reversal of loss allowance for the year FREEEE R (3,712) (64)
Exchange differences ERER (158) (204)
At the end of the year FR 10,090 6,342
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS
9 to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate
forward looking information.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e p el N

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

20. B 5 REMEWRIER AR

18 (1)

FEBEEAEBMBREERESRE
TR Z AP A B S B UGRIR A
TREAE R B E IRt B AE 8RR
HEERREERR E5RIFIEE
BEAXZEERBFEKABHNE#D
8- BREEERTEIREMEER-

Over 30 days Over 60 days Over 90 days Over 365 days

Current past due

HH  BHEE30R

At 31 December 2023 RZ2Z=%+-A=+-H
Weighted average expected ~ MIET TR EER

loss rate 10.5%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) BT EI£4 (FE7T) 28,940
Loss allowance (HK$'000)  E5HEEHE (TH7T) 3,044

At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZB=+-H
Weighted average expected NI STEMESER

loss rate 3.0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) BT el (FE7r) 28,563
Loss alowance (HKS000)  K5#8#HE (587 858

0.3%
4,990
16

0.1%
4,890

past due past due past due
BEER60R BHBIAWNA HHER05H

21% 15.4% 57.9%
3,883 20,674 6,507 64,004
82 3,178 3,770 10,090

0.1% 2% 32%
6,322 14,195 16,603 70573
7 2% 5,238 6,342
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in e TR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

IRITRIRE4EER
AR T =F+ " RB=1+—H Kr&EH

21. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 21.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of

the Group denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) amounted
to approximately HK$2,498,000 (2022: approximately
HK$6,473,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations.

At the end of the reporting period, bank and cash balances
comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity period of three months
or less. Bank balance carried interest at market rates
ranging from 0.001% to 3.5% per annum (2022: 0.001% to

MARE TARE) sHENRITRIRE
AEERAY2,498,0008c (CEZZF 1 4
6,473,000787T) - ARERIRINERE
PB4 B 15 4B o

R ERAR BITRIRESERE S AE
BERENREURFEIHEA=EA
FUAZ FZHRIRTTER © tR1TAEERIE ™
BERNFK0.001%EISL% (CE - _F !
0.001%%E0.625%) 5t 8. °

0.625%).

22, B5 REMESTRIE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022
—E-=

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt 5 FHET FHET
Trade payables B ENRIE (@) 15,570 22,774
Accruals FEstE 3,347 3,359
Interest payables on borrowings &k FEAS | £ (b) 12,521 7,549

Payables for the acquisition of W2 BB &
property, plant and equipment R BIFE (S RNIE 456 1,286
Others HAth (©) 7,697 12,524
39,591 47,492

Presented as: EX P

Current liabilities mENER| 31,333 47,492
Non-current liabilities ERHEE 8,258 =
39,591 47,492
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Note:

(@)

(b)

Payment terms granted by suppliers are 30 days from the
invoice date of the relevant purchases. The ageing analysis of
trade payables based on the invoice date is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
trE MBI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

22. B KRHEMEMRIE
FisE

(&)

(@) HEBERTFHNATARSBEEBK
BRI E R A ST30H - B B EUW
IE%B“%‘ = AR ARES DTN T

2023

HK$’000

FHET
0-30 days 0-30H 3,470 6,703
31-60 days 31-60H 855 3,737
61-90 days 61-90H 412 3,935
Over 90 days #83E90H 10,833 8,399
15,570 22,774

The interests on borrowings are payable as follows:

b) ERFEEZUTHRZA

2023 2022

—E-=F BT &

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

On demand or within one year BERAN—FA 4,263 7,549
In the second year BF GTAFERBERE

(included in non-current liabilities) 8,258 -

12,521 7,549

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated contract liability
amount of unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts was
approximately HK$280,000 (2022: HK$2,826,000). This
amount represents revenue expected to be recognised in the
future from delivery of prefabricated precast construction in
accordance to the expected date of delivery.

© MRIEZ=F+ZA=+—H =K
EERBSHNRREBETARDRE
TERNETZEHNaBEENS
280,000 7T (ZE T 24! 2826 000
BIT) cZEEARBEBHZGHE
FESTERER T RTBRELEAN
FRREERRIURA ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA=A

AR TR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

23. BORROWINGS

23. B

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#&T THB7T
Other loan HME® (@) 40,000 40,000
Bond payables EHFENRIE (b) 5,800 5,800
Loan from a former director KE—LAIEEZEMR (©) 29,250 29,250
Bank borrowings IRITER @) 1,096 1,128
76,146 76,178
The borrowings are repayable £ BiR Ll THAREER ¢
as follows:
On demand or within one year ~ RERE IR —EFER 46,896 46,928
In the second year = 29,250 =
In the third year H= - 29,250
76,146 76,178
Less: Amount due for settlement 3 : 731218 8 A3 EI &R
within 12 months BEZzIE OR
(shown under current liabilities)  BEE TF2%) (46,896) (46,928)
Amount due for settlement R12(B B & EIHEE
after 12 months I8 29,250 29,250
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23. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The other loan was an interest-bearing loan with principal
of HK$40,000,000 (2022: HK$40,000,000). The other loan
was unsecured, interest bearing at 7.50% (2022: 6.75%)
per annum and repayable on 25 November 2024 (2022: 25
November 2023).

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had a number of
HKS$-denominated bonds with an aggregate principal of
HK$5,800,000 (2022: HK$5,800,000) and are unsecured.
On 22 July 2023 and 5 August 2023, the Company entered
into extended agreement for principal HK$5,000,000 and
HK$800,000, respectively in which the repayment period
were extended for 1 year, repayable during the periods from
July 2024 to August 2024 and interest bearing at 12% per
annum.

The loan from a former director was an interest-bearing loan
with principal of HK$29,250,000 (2022: HK$29,250,000).
The loan was unsecured, interest bearing at 10% (2022:10%)
per annum and repayable on 31 March 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings with
principal of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,096,000) was unsecured, interest bearing at 4.55%
per annum and repayable on 13 July 2024 (2022: 4.20% per
annum and repayable on 1 July 2023).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RS IR R MYEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_—H+"A=-+—HIEE

23. Am (@)
Mt :

@ HMEMHZA£40,000,0007%E 7T (=
=~ T 4F 1 40,000,000 7T) At B
BER - EMERABIKIR IRFER=E
750% (ZE - "F :16.75%) st BN
ARZEINFE+—BZ+AHH (C
T F B =F+—HAZ+H
H) Ei&o

b) MRIEZ=F+ZHA=+—H'XK
NBEB—RIBITHEERS  BEE
% %87/5,800,0008 7T (T2 -~
5800000/%75) BERF - RIS
=t IZHRIZEZ=
NB A B &2AF % 555,000,000
71 K2800,0007 7t 2 A5 57 3L JEHF
Ta?%é% BRI R —5 > BIZARC

“THECtREE_SE_MENA
mﬁﬂ%ﬁ%i LR AR ENZE12%
=

© KRE—LIEEZERABEEER
& FE 29,250, ooo%n (s —
£ 129,250,000587T) c Z AR AE
IR IREF)ER10% (ZB -4 :
10%) st B BN B _HE=H
=+—HER-

d RIBEZI=F+ZZB=+—H 817
&=z A& AR #1,000,0007t (%
12 491,096,00078 70) 2 2 E K 1%
FEREABE%TEBW AR — T N5
tHA+=HEE (CEF | &F
FMEA20%:TEW BN S _=F+t
B—BEE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in e TR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24, HE&E
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HERR HEMHZERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEZZf IZC b St
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERr TET FERr TET
Within one year —ER 5,067 4,862 4,562 4,287
In the second to fifth years, inclusive SF_EEEHE (BEEEME) 4,154 5,696 3,058 4,423
After five years L% 5,317 6,148 4,391 4,950
14,538 16,706
Less: future finance charges B BRHMERS (2,527) (3,046)
Present value of lease liabilties HEBBZRE 12,011 13,660 12,011 13,660
Less: Amount due for settlement B R2ERREBEE 2 FUE
within 12 months (shown under MBRBa’ETES)
current liabilities) (4,562) (4,287)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R 12{B B BB ML E 2 1B 7,449 9,373
At 31 December 2023, the weighted average interest rate N_EBEZ=F+"RB=+—H mE¥x
was 5.2% (2022: 5.1%). Interest rates are fixed at the HRERE2% (TEZTFH 1 51%) oF]
contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value ERENBEHEES AtXAEE AT A
interest rate risk. FENZERRE
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are
as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e p el N

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

25. EIEMIBERGE
FREIERIASERNEHNT

Accelerated
tax Right-of-use Lease
depreciation Assets Liabilities Total
MFERIERE FAESE HEaR st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
FTET FTET FET FERT
At 1 January 2022 (as originally stated) A _E__&F—F—H
(REZ5) (369) = - (369)
Adjustments (note 3) A (HEEs) - (2,307) 2,307 =
At 1 January 2022 (restated) AZEZ"F—F—H &) (369) (2,307) 2,307 (369)
Currency realignment ERAE - 121 (121) =
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (note 11)  (REZ R /5t A8
(PzE11) (128) (335) 335 (128)
At 31 December 2022 and AZE"F+"B=1+—H
1 January 2023 (restated) MZEZ=-F—F—
(TE75) (497) (2,521) 2,521 (497)
Currency realignment bE R - 38 (38) -
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (note 11)  (IREZFR) /5t ABE
(fHzE11) (5) 306 (306) )
(502) 2,177) 2,177 (502)

At the end of 31 December 2023, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$21,305,000 (2022:
approximately HK$31,824,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

BE_ZE-_F+ZA=+—H %%
B 7 R AR IEE1E4921,305,00058 7T

(B "4 931,824,000 7T) B4
L SR AR o FR A SR E ) HR A 7]
TER B R SRR LR B E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

26. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:

As at 1 January 2022,
31 December 2022,
1 January 2023 and
31 December 2023

Ordiinary shares of HK$0.01 each:

26. fg7s

Number of
ordinary
shares

Share
capital
&z
HK$’000
FHETT

BER#E

ERE

HREE0.01 Brz BEK -

i —tl = R S
—ECCHF+A=+—8">
B -F-A-HK
—ETZH#+ZA=+—H

2,000,000,000 20,000

Issued and fully paid:

As at 1 January 2022,
31 December 2022,
1 January 2023 and
31 December 2023

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each:

Number of
ordinary
shares

Share
capital
S
HK$’000
FHEIT

HER#%E

ERITRER :
ZREE0.01 Br o BEK
R-E-_—_&—HF—H-"
B F+ZHA=4+—H8>
TEI=F—HA—HK
2 -F+"HB=1+—H

1,010,605,000 10,106
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e p el N

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. ZRBHBRRARRABEES
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position (@) BAFEAKRER
—E-=
HK$’000
FET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment I EN =Y 3 24
Right-of-use assets EREEE 361 362
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIRE - 550
364 936
Current assets MENE E
Other receivables HAuEWERIE 376 630
Amounts due from subsidiaries = VNCIES ] 6,203 4,161
Bank and cash balances IR1T R IR 45 5R 3,021 4,935
9,600 9,726
Current liabilities mENaE
Other payables H e RIB 4,577 9,006
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET MY B A B R IE 81 81
Borrowings =B 5,800 5,800
Lease liabilities HEaE 366 393
10,824 15,280
Net current liabilities mEaERE (1,224) (5,554)
Total assets less current liabilities #AEE R GENEE (860) (4,618)
Non-current liabilities ERBAaE
Borrowings EE 29,250 29,250
Interest payables on borrowings B EARE 8,258 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NI 4,949 =
LSP obligation EREEE 111 -
42,568 29,250
NET LIABILITIES BEEE (43,428) (33,868)
Capital and reserves BERRKEHE
Share capital &N 10,106 10,106
Reserve B (53,534) (43,974)
TOTAL DEFICIT 4a gt (43,428) (33,868)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in e TR MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=HF+"_A=+—HILEE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 27. ZATMBIRRARREREE
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE =)
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserve movement (b) fEEEH

Share-based
Share payment Special Accumulated
Premium reserve reserve losses Total

MR 32 f

kivafd "EzHEE  BHEE  RESR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

(Note a) (Note b)

(Ffizta) (Fi=%n)
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-__%-H—H 268,953 2,480 30,677 (335,084) (33,074)
Loss for the year EREE - - - (10,900) (10,900)
At 31 December 2022 WH-E-"#F+-F=+—H 268,953 2,480 30,577 (345,984) (43,974)
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=£—-F—H 268,953 2,480 30,577 (345,984) (43,974)
Loss for the year EREE - - - (9,560) (9,560)
At 31 December 2023 MRZZEZ=F+”A=+-H 268,953 2,480 30,577 (355,544) (53,534)

Notes BosEE -

(@)  The share-based payment reserve represents the fair @ MURMEARBEZEEERR
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised RIS 3R 3R ko8t Ui R 45
share options granted to directors, employees and a 0 LABG 17 7 B BT R Y
consultant of the Group recognised in accordance with FTBGRRER W AER
the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share- EE - EENEBNERTHER
based payments in note 28 to the financial statements. BRENERIGESHENAF

e

()  Special reserve represents the difference between the b) HFREFHERER_Z—NEF
fair value of the shares of Ultimate Expert acquired AANHZEHAMKEEL K
pursuant to the Reorganisation on 8 May 2014 over B2 AT EERFABRIESR
the nominal value of the Company’s share issued in Mg TRO ZEEZESR

exchange therefore.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
include the full-time and part-time employees, executives,
officers, directors, business consultants, agents, legal and
financial advisers of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 2 August
2014 and refreshed on 2 June 2017 and 8 June 2018,
respectively, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period, is limited to 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of shares options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R ERARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHEZ_=F+_B=t—HIEE

FERRtESE

RABBITHERESE (ZEtE) 8@
BERSRERMIRIMNIB LIRS A
EEEBALER -GER2HERRE
KRB RFABDNBRENES (B
RFER) THRAE -BRAEESE
EBEE R R AT - &5t
AR "E—NFENB ZHER DRI
"2t HFRATHRIE-N\EFRA
NBEH BRIEFBBUHNEST > TH
BZBE+ERTABR

RiEZET 8 WA R 2 HAR1TERE
RiEHERZIAFHRHEETHERIGE
AEMERREZ BEITRNZ10% 1
R+ _ERBERN ZtEIBUEE
B2 RERIRIVBRER T HTRIRD
Ee#B EARERANRATEHT
FRA7 BY0.1%4 IR o (ERIBRIMR B ALt
[REEDVIBIRIERTEIRRA S DR EM
o

BIFRARAESZ THERIETERE
FRETMHBATZBREBLE
U IEFITEE R LA o LI FMER
+ZEABEA EREEARAREER
RRBUFRNTES  IEHEAHE
AEFHEMERRE B8R AT ER
BFE AR 1D B90.1% 342 (B (IRIEA A B
% H HE 2 B 1D B1) #8385,000,00078
T AR RRAG BRI R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATE‘I\{I ENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
7 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than five years from the
date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the share options; (i) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED EEiEiEHBREAR

8. MEiRtEstEl (48)

REBRENEZEQIEREIBENZ BE
THRBARASZSRENERER
ABTTIMIRM © % H B AR AT T (e AT |
EERE IRNE-RBRERG B
BBt B2 B AEst B F
UBREREE) 1k

BRETEEJHESRE  BFFME
RUTRSE()S AR RMNIIELER
REBZBPISE (©EREEQA
HiZ AT R A3 5 B A A B IR RATTF 5
ZFRWTHE ; K(ifBHNE BRAT RN
HE-

BRETNE T A ARAHNERRRE
ErRERE-



28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following tables disclose the movements in the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e p el N
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+"A=+—HILEE

28. MBRGHESTE (BB)
LU R RIS T A E R A/ B BE AR

Company’s number of share options during the years: ENEEF) !
2023 -
Outstanding at Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding at
1 January during during during 31 December Vesting Exercisable Exercise  Fair value
2023 the year the year the year 2023 Grant date Period period price  of option
RZ8Z=
-A-H FakgiE
X3 Rt ERiTeE ERXH fE  BEHAW FEGR frfesr i AT{E
Former directors
AiftES
Mr. Liu Zhong Ping 2016A 6,200,000 - - - 6,200,000 14 June 2016 14 June 2016- 15 June 2016 - HK$0.83  HK$040
15 June 2016 14 June 2026
b St St ZB-5E 08387 040%T
~ATEA ~ATEAE  ~AtTRRE
it St 58I
nAtEA ~ATER
6,200,000 - - - 6,200,000
2022 kSt
Outstanding at Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding at
1 January during during during 31 December Vesting Exercisable Exercise  Fair value
2022 the year the year the year 2022 Grant date Period period price  of option
fRE
3k ERiTeE ERXH K EHAH FEHR frfesd i NF{E
Former directors
AiftEE
Mr. Liu Zhong Ping 2016A 6,200,000 - - - 6,200,000 14 June 2016 14June2016- 15 June 2016 - HKS0.83 HK$0.40
15 June 2016 14 June 2026
BmhEgE Z3-5F ZZ-5F ZE-1F 08381 040ET
7~ATEE nATEEE ~ATREE
25 TITRE
~ATEE AATEE
6,200,000 - - - 6,200,000

The options outstanding at

the end of the year have a

weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.45 years

(2022: 3.45 years).

FARNTEBRETFIINESOIRS

245 (ZEZZ

I 345%F) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATE\I\\/I ENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_E_—H+"FA=+—HIEE

29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate
in a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated
by the local municipal government. The Group’s PRC
subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated on certain
percentage of the average employee salary as agreed by
local municipal government to the scheme to fund the
retirement benefits of the employees. The principal obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under
the scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the scheme and the same amount is
matched by employees.

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying employees
in Hong Kong under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal
by employers or upon retirement), subiect to a minimum of 5
years employment period, based on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) x
2/3 x Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.
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RENEE
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29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

(Continued)

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of
offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting
Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to ofiset the
LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition
Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the
HKSAR is also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to
assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition
Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a certain
amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible
to ofiset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. On the
other hand, the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
voluntary contributions made pre-, on or post-transition can
continue to be used to offset pre— and post-transition LSP.
Futhermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition Date
will be grandfathered and calculated based on the Last
monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date
and the years of service up to that date. The Amendment
Ordinance has impact on the Group’s LSP liability with
respect to employees that participate in MPF Scheme and
the Group has accoumted for the offsetting mechanism and
its abolition as disclosed in note 3.4.
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29.

30.

F+A=t+—HLEE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
(Continued)

LSP obiligation

Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP obiligation
in the current year were as follows:

29. &

a5t 8 (48)

RIRERE

FEERMRERESEVREESN
T

Opening unfunded obligation HRYI KRR EE S
Current service cost 2R A 343
Interest cost ISV %N 28
Past service cost BERBK A 2,331
Closing unfunded obligation HAR AR HREE 2,702

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31
December 2023 is 14 years.

The current service cost and the net interest expense for the
year are included in the employee benefits expenses in profit
or loss. Of the expenses for the year, HK$2,074,000 has
been included in cost of sales and HK$600,000 has been
included in administrative and other operating expenses.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of
the LSP obligation are discount rate of 3%, expected salary
increase ranging from 2% to 3% and expected investment
return on offsetable MFP accrued benefits of 3%.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Other than as disclosed transaction and balance
elsewhere in notes 13 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements, during the year, the Group had no
other related party transactions.

(b)

Compensation of key management
personnel

The emoluments of the Company’s Directors, who are
also identified as members of key management of the
Group, are set out in note 13.

GLORY FLAME HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEIERERELF
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FRERRBRANRZFEAZEFTA
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600,000/ 7T E st AITTBUR Hth& E R
o

BERREEENEABERRDIER
3% ~ FAHAFT £ 1 R2%E3% /K P H
seiae R BT TARR BORE3%

30. FAEFRXSH
(a) Em’ﬁﬁé%$ﬁ$W£B&%
FrvE > 32 “ﬁﬁrmﬁgm
mE R H
b)) TEESEABNINE

EREEE AEETEEERE
AB) BN E I IIEE130



31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the

end of the reporting period are as follow:

Place of Issued and
incorporation Paid-up capital
AR BETRBRRE
Ultimate Expert Holdings BVI USD2,000/
Limited USD2,000
BTERARAR EBREHE 2000%7T,/
2,000& 7T
Drillcut Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000/
HK$5,000,000
BRIRERAD &8 5,000,000,/
5,000,000/ 7T
BN EmEEREME PRC RMB43,000,000/
BIRAF (note 1) RMB12,138,000
SN SImEREME ) AR #43,000,00075,/
BRAT (i) AE#12,138,0007¢
T ETRRE PRC RMB10,000,000/
R EBERAE RMBS,100,000
(METEK)
s AR 10,000,00070,/
AE#85,100,0007T
Note:
1. The Company is a sino-foreign owned enterprise established
in the PRC.
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31. ZRFEEMBLARRE

RN R EHREAT TR B AT
BE:

Principal
activities
and place
of operation

Attributable effective
equity interest held
Direct Indirect
FR R B8 PR A 1
H#

%

FTEEBREEHE

100% -
(2022: 100%)

Investment holding

REER

100%
(2022: 100%)

Provision of concrete
demolition services

RAUE R T IR EIARSS

- 51%
(2022: 51%)

Manufacturing and
trading of
prefabricated
precast
construction
components

REREERRTN
RRERAN

51%
(2022: 51%)

Research and sales of
LED Cultivation

FHFE R s ELEDH 12
i

BffsE

1. ZRBARB—BERPERILIZPIINE
BibZo
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 3. XA EEMBLATRE (B)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that MAEEARFERERZIFREN
have material non-controlling interests BREHHSE

Place of

incorporation/

establishment/

principal place Voting rights held Profit/(loss) allocated Accumulated
Name of entities of business by non-controlling interests  to non-controlling interest non-controlling interest

I,

I3,/ NEEFERETZ
TEERM FERERREZRRE B/ (518 REtIERES
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“g-=f C"$--f ZB-=fF C"Z-_# IZBI=f _"T__F

—_——— —_ ==

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT TERT T#ERT TERT

—_—

B PRC 39% 39% 551 554 5,474 5,069
H
EES PRC 49% 49% (65) - (4,125) (4,099)
H
PBLHTEERTLZER PRC N/A 49% N/A 7,116 N/A -
BRAB(MEEER) HE RER TiER TiER
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with 141 - 57 (46)

non-controlling interests
BEFEREEZENFER
ERR

627 7,670 1,406 924
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31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

31. ZRF X EMBATHE (B)

BREANIFEREDZIFEEM
BARMEFRE (8

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group.
The summarised financial information represents amounts
before inter-company eliminations.

TRETHAEEMSHEABEARZIF

Rt (FFERRER ) B AT
Bl - BB BIEET AR B HHE
A2 EER

%’%%/2

2023
ZBICE
HK$'000
TR
Principal place of business/country of incorporation PRC PRC PRC
FTEEENY HRAIER alE alE FE
% of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI 49% 49% 39%
FERRRRE ERRELR REE%
At 31 December; ®+ZBA=+-R:
Non-current assets ERBEE - - = 9,807 11,936
Current assets TEEE - 82 185 35,089 43,338
Current lbities FBEE - (2,852) (2,900 (25,045) (36,043)
Non-current liabiliies EIE=N - - - (5,815) (6,233)
Net (iabilties)/assets (&) /EE3E - 2,770) (2715 14,036 12,998
Accumulated NCI BRI - (4,125 (4099 54T4 5,069
Year ended 31 December: HE+ZR=t-HLEE:
Revenue WA - - - 39,570 49,156
Profit/{oss) for the year ERET/ () 14,522 (132 (1) 1,413 1,421
Total comprehensive income 2EBALEE 14,443 78 232 376 386
Profit/{loss) allocated to NCI NEZFEREGZEN/ (BE) 7,116 (65) = 551 554
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activites 4X&%8) (FrF) /FEzBE3E (36) (98) - 1,68 404
Net cash generated from/{used in) investing activities R ZEEIFTS/ (FiE) 2 BE&FE 25 - - 44 (691)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities B4 EE) (/) /Frigz B &8 (2,230) - - (30) 931
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes SEREEH = @ © (1) (49)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents & RIB&SBNZ3E (5.0 (2.241) (101) © 1,255 3%
/0
Note: 5t -
1. The Company was deregistered during the year ended 31 1. BE-T__S+_A=+—HL

December 2022. FE ZABEBREEEM
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. ZEREMERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing MEEFHELEEEZE
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TR A ERERNFAREEBELS
arising from financing activities during the year: Bz &) .

Interest payable

(included in trade Lease
and other payable) liabilities Borrowings
FEfFIS
(GIN=):
HAtFE(IFRIE) HEEaR fam s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TER
At 1 January 2022 RZE-__&-HB—H 4,600 11,766 64,250 80,616
Changes in cash flows Rehegs
~ Operating activities - R - (660) - (660)
- Financing activities - HEED (2,803) (4,735) 11,963 4,425
Non-cash changes FREEH
- Finance costs - MEMA 5,752 660 - 6,412
- Additions -RE - 7,194 - 7,194
- Exchange differences -ERER - (565) (35) (600)

At 31 December 2022 and E"_gllﬂiﬁ"ﬁ] =+—H

1 January 2023 —E_=%—-HF-H 7,549 13,660 76,178 97,387
Changes in cash flows ﬁi/mz )]
- Operating activities - BT E - (656) - (656)
- Financing activities - HEED (1,394) (5,291) 14 (6,671)
Non-cash changes FREEH
- Finance costs - MEMA 6,366 656 - 7,022
- Additions -RE - 3,824 - 3,824
~ Exchange differences -ERER - (182) (46) (228)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=&+-A=1+—H 12,521 12,011 76,146 100,678
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33.

34.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into new lease agreements for the use of offices and
warehouses for the term from 1 to 3 years. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised of HK$3,824,000
of right-of-use assets and HK$3,824,000 of lease liabilities,
respectively.

COMPARATIVE FIGUERS

Certain comparative figures have been restated or re-
classified to conform to changes in presentation in the
current year.

33.

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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TEFRRAERS

B E2023F 12831 HILFE » AEEE]
UERAMAERBENMEERZ
HAB1EIF -FHERGBR > AEE D5
FESD{E FAE S EE3,824,000/8 TT R IR E &
53,824,000/ 7T
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FINANCIAL BAFSHIE
SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the ZAEBRBERABYMREEZ 2EREER
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BEHE (BB AERZIEEXGESHVIER

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report, is %) W~ :
as follows:

2023 2022 2021 2020
“BCZE TETF TE-—F "B TE “EHE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TExT TErn TEx  TExT  TEn

Revenue A 107,606 118,533 98,970 80,876 93,341
Cost of sales HEMAE (73,867)  (83,142)  (74,324)  (57,531)  (66,237)
Gross profit eyl 33,739 35,391 24,646 23,345 27,104
Other income and other gains or losses, net ~ E I A R B fhi8 % » 348 5,035 8,549 1,911 5,373 (1,349)
Administrative and other operating expenses  {TBUR Hi= &R % (40,703)  (40551)  (58,156)  (39,564)  (69,615)
Operating (loss)/profit EERH/ (858 (1,929) 3389  (31,599)  (10,846)  (43,860)
Finance costs MEME (7,113) (6,412) (5,847) (5,156) (4,026)
Loss before income tax PRERSIRAIEE (9,042) (3,023)  (37,446)  (16,002)  (47,886)
Income tax (expenses)/credits Fifsi (B /B% (104) 364 262 (185) (400)
Loss for the year FRBE (9,146) (2,659)  (37,184)  (16,187)  (48,286)
Attributable to: FEf

Owners of the Company i /NGTE 7= DN (9,773)  (10,329)  (36,846)  (15250)  (44,411)

Non-controling interests FEER R 627 7,670 (338) (937) (3,875)

(9,146) (2,659)  (37,184)  (16,187)  (48,280)

Asset and liabilities BEERAR
Total assets BEE 120,282 137,022 116,779 144,045 138,738
Total liabilities Baf (131,051)  (137,847)  (113,380)  (104,193) (83,899
Net (iabilities)/assets BR /BEFE (10,769) (825) 3,399 39,852 54,839
Attributable to: FEAE
Owners of the Company AARBEA (12,175) (1,749) 9,194 45,234 59,162
Non-controling interests FEER R 1,406 924 (5,795) (5,382) (4,329

(10,769) (825 3399 39,852 54,839

The financial summary does not form part of the audited ZAEAEFHEL FERLEE M FERFL—I
consolidated financial statements. 7o
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